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Senator Jackie Speier, Chair


JACKIE SPEIER, CHAIR:  All right.  We will now move to our informational hearing on the Department of Insurance.  And I see that the Insurance Commissioner has arrived.  I will be very brief in my comments on this oversight hearing.  This is the sixth hearing on oversight that the Insurance Committee has had, certainly since I have been the chair of the committee.  And now that our jurisdiction has expanded to include banking and finance, we will make note of the fact that we will be having a similar oversight hearing on the Department of Financial Institutions in the near future, as well.  So, again, an opportunity for us to review the department and we welcome the presence here of the Insurance Commissioner.  Senator Scott, as Vice-Chair, do have any opening comments?  Any other comments by members?  Seeing none, let’s invite the Insurance Commissioner up.  Certainly members of your staff that you would like to have join you are welcome.


JOHN GARAMENDI, INSURANCE COMMISSIONER:  Madam Chair and members of the Senate Banking, Finance & Insurance Committee, together with my executive staff, most of whom are here today, and over 1,200 dedicated civil servants, I thank you for the opportunity to review the progress that we’ve made to rebuild the California Department of Insurance into the best consumer protection agency in the United States.


As you are aware, the morale, the operations, and the reputation of the Department was nearly destroyed by the Quackenbush Administration.  Fortunately interim commissioners Clark Kelso and Justice Harry Low were able to restore the integrity of the organization.  Yet when I took office in January 2003, many of the critical operations and functions of the Department needed reorganization and direction.  We spent the last 30 months since taking office rebuilding decimated units, reorganizing operations for more efficiency, and realizing the mission of the Department.  That is, protecting California consumers.


I want to quickly review the significant changes and activities of the last 30 months.


First and foremost is the establishment of our mission—to protect consumers and thereby become the best consumer protection agency in the nation.  I believe that every member of our team now understands this mission and is dedicated to it.


Within weeks of taking this office we reorganized the enforcement units, brought in new managers, set about improving technology, and began to rebuild relationships with district attorneys, other law enforcement agencies, and special investigation units in insurance companies.


Our task is to aggressively investigate and suppress fraud in the insurance system with special emphasis on auto and workers’ compensation fraud.  This has resulted in increased investigations, arrests, and convictions.  In 2003 alone, our Fraud Division set a national record with 1,118 convictions.  The closest to California’s with conviction rate was Florida with 428.  The conviction rate in California continues to rise annually.


Recognizing that the organizational structure the Department did not allow for efficient work flows, we now have in place teams composed of lawyers, investigators, and other staff, to pursue questionable activities by insurance companies, agents, and other licensees.  We’ve also restructured the Legal Branch to reduce the processing time for various filings and applications by insurance companies, although more personnel for this task are needed.  We completed the work started by Kelso and Low and now have in place an online application system for the licensing of producers, thus reducing the processing time from eight weeks to one week.  We continue to ask the Legislature for the money necessary to improve the efficiencies of the Department, and we thank you and the other members of the Legislature for the support that we have received.


Now, California is always on the edge.  The Southern California fires of 2003 devastated communities and lives of thousands of Californians.  Even as the fires continued to burn, our disaster response teams were at the evacuation sites to assist in the recovery efforts by providing useful insurance information and prodding the insurance companies to fulfill their obligations to their policyholders.  We conducted 11 community forums to inform survivors about insurance and learn of the problems that they faced.  Many latent problems with homeowners’ insurance policies were revealed when that insurance was needed, leading to additional elements in our Homeowners’ Bill of Rights.


We thank this committee and you, Madam Chair, for passing and carrying much of the necessary legislation to address these issues.  Together we continue to press for the remaining elements of the Homeowners’ Bill of Rights.


In the scorched earth of the fire zone, our Fraud and Investigation Divisions created for the first time in this nation a multi-agency taskforce composed of local, state, and federal police and regulator units that patrolled in the weeks following the fires to prevent survivors from being burned a second time by criminals who all too often swoop into disaster zones offering unlicensed and fraudulent services.  Nineteen arrests and 17 convictions resulted from this unique effort.

Prior to taking office, I established two taskforces and conducted numerous meetings with employers and labor unions to identify problems in the workers’ compensation system and suggest solutions to those problems.  


The road map to reform California’s workers’ compensation system resulted from these meetings, along with efforts by my team of experts in the Department.  Together with the business community and labor, we aggressively pushed for reforms and ultimately two sets of legislation emerged.


One set dealt with medical costs which closely followed the road map and was signed by Governor Davis.  The second set of reforms signed by Governor Schwarzenegger dealt with issues that we identified but in slightly different ways.


My Department continues its mandated role in monitoring the costs of the system.  It is our opinion that the rapidly escalating cost of claims prior to the reform has turned and is now plunging.  Tomorrow I conduct the most recent Pure  Premium Rate Hearing and I will provide our estimate of the dramatic reduction in the cost of claims.  Unfortunately, the cost of premiums to business in the state has not followed the steep decline in the cost of claims.  In the days ahead we will provide detailed analysis of the situation and, quite possibly, investigatory hearings.


Policing and regulating the insurance industry is our principal task and the means of enforcing existing laws and regulation.  The Department has been in the front lines in the prosecution of national insurance scandals.  Together with New York Attorney General, Elliot Sptizer, we broke the insurance brokers scandal with mutual investigations of brokers.  We are also pursuing the title industry scandal of reinsurance kickbacks.  We have established a special unit to stamp out problems with disability insurance that are national in scope, and we have ramped up aggressive enforcement against insurance predators that prey on senior citizens.  (And I should mention, Senator Scott’s legislation has been of significant help in that regard)


We continue our investigations while asking the Legislature to strengthen laws that inform and protect businesses and individuals from unethical sales practices and repair the harm done to innocent citizens.  Furthermore, as with the Homeowners’ Bill of Rights, we will use our regulatory power to write strong regulations that restrict unethical practices.


Protecting consumers also means using the laws and the power of the Office of Insurance Commissioner to reject insurance company’s acquisitions, and mergers that harm consumers.  The WellPoint/Anthem merger is such a case.  Ten insurance commissioners across the land approved the proposed merger.  Alone, I refused to go along, because I believed that the $4 billion cash cost, the gross executive compensation deals, and the inevitable reduction in service and increased cost to policyholders violated the California codes.  I forced the companies to guarantee that Californians would not bear any of the merger cost.  They would contribute and invest $250 million in improving healthcare services in underserved, rural and urban communities, they would spend more of their premium dollar on healthcare services and less on profit and overhead, and improve the quality of medical services.


I believe that individuals and community must have available and affordable insurance to prosper and climb the economic ladder.  Unfortunately many communities do not have access to affordable and available insurance.  Therefore, we have established the Emerging Communities Initiative which addresses this issue with an enhanced effort to promote the Low-Cost Auto Program, reducing the impact of zip code rating, forcing the insurance companies to invest in low-income communities, reducing workers’ compensation costs to businesses, and using the WellPoint/Anthem settlement to improve healthcare services.  And finally, applying the Homeowners’ Bill of Rights to families in these communities.

On our arrival in office, we immediately identified the Conservation Liquidation Office as a major concern.  During my first term, I identified the CLO as a serious problem, and we set about to completely restructure and reform it into a non-political office with seasoned and competent management.  Commissioner Quackenbush allowed the office to backslide into sinecure for his political palace.  Management standards, financial and ethical standards declined.  Management turnover, lack of experience and understanding of the conservation and liquidation function led to numerous and serious problems.  I set about to address these issues with a nationwide search for quality managers conducted by a reputable search firm whose recommended candidates were vetted by a three-person committee, two of whom were not state employees.  Fred Buck was selected and he set about to address the problems.  During his tenure there were 57 open estates.  In 20 months he closed 29 estates and distributed over a billion dollars to beneficiaries.  He also undertook to address the management and control issues.  Fred Buck has moved on, and we now have David Wilson on board to run the CLO.  David was selected following the same procedures as Mr. Buck.  He’s a professional, with 30 years of experience in managing insurance companies and accounting for assurance companies of which 10 years is directly involved with bankrupt insurance companies.  His principal task going forward is to complete the establishment of the management and financial controls that are necessary within the CLO.  


And this is a very quick oversight of the work to date.  Much work has been done, and I’d be delighted to provide more detail on these or any other issues that you have.  So, I shall stop.  And we’ll answer whatever questions you have.


Here at the table with me is my general counsel.  To my left, Gary Cohen, and to my right, my chief deputy commissioner, Rick Baum.


CHAIR SPEIER:  Thank you, Commissioner.  Let’s just start with your opening comments.  You indicated that claims are precipitously down, I think that was the word you used, or dramatically down.


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Workers’ Compensation.


CHAIR SPEIER:  No, we’re talking about claims on homeowners, I thought you were saying?  No?  Maybe I misunderstood you.


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Well, go ahead with your question and then, perhaps, I can understand.  I’ll be happy to respond.


CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Maybe I misunderstood you.  You were talking about claims in workers’ comp are dramatically down.


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  I said the cost of claims for workers’ compensation has dramatically fallen, plunged, is the word I used, and, indeed that is the case.  Today, the insurance industry is enjoying a 45% loss ratio on claims and the administration of those claims.  Never before in the history of California that we can find, has the cost of claims been such a low proportion of the premium.


CHAIR SPEIER:  So is it your belief then that there is profit taking going on here that exceeds what is appropriate?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  There’s a very significant margin.  When you have a 45% loss ratio, you have an opportunity for a very, very significant margin.  We are in the process…


CHAIR SPEIER:  Has State Fund had a 45% loss ratio, as well?


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  We’re in the process of the final analysis of this.  State Fund, since it is the dominant player with over 50% of the market, is largely responsible for that loss ratio.  As to the exact State Fund loss ratio, I don’t have that figure before me.


CHAIR SPEIER:  But presuming, as you say, that State Fund has the lion’s share of the market, and since they’re a quasi governmental entity and really don’t have a profit motive, they should be dropping their premiums if that kind of loss ratio is being enjoyed, correct?


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  State Fund had, and still does have, they had a serious financial problem.  They still have a financial issue.  That margin that I described is largely used to rebuild their reserves which were under-reserved, and their surpluses which were far less than necessary given the size of their business.  My view is, that they have chosen to rebuild their financial strength in far too short a period, and that over a longer period of time they could rebuild their financial strength, allowing rates to fall during that period of time.  They’ve chosen to keep their rates high and to rebuild very quickly.


CHAIR SPEIER:  Let me just ask one last question, Senator Cox.  What have they actually lowered their rates to?  


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Well, this is one of the more interesting questions that we are now pursuing, and it’s probably going to be the investigatory hearing that I eluded to earlier.  We don’t have the final figures in place.  The Pure Premium Rate, which I promulgate, has dropped 24% as of January 1, 2005, compared to July 1, 2003.  Now, that fall does not take into account the potential savings from the SB 899 legislation.  Only a very small portion of that drop was in that area.  We have a recommendation that just came out yesterday from the Workers’ Compensation Insurance Rating Bureau of some slightly less than 14% additional reduction.  The hearing tomorrow is specifically designed to get into the details and to make a determination as to whether that is a good or not so good number.  If you add those two together….you shouldn’t, because they are percentages…. so it’s somewhere north of 30% based upon the current recommendation of the Workers’ Compensation Insurance Rating Bureau together with past reductions that I have already cited.  It is very clear that the insurance companies have not reduced their premiums by that amount.  The average is 14%.
CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  So the SCIF has reduced its premium by 
14%.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  That is not correct.  That is what they have told us, that they have reduced their pure premium by 14%.  Now that’s what they filed with us.  The actual premium charge to businesses can be, and we’re discovering is, different for nearly every insurance company.  They have what they call, multipliers, and these are profit loading, these are expense loading above and beyond the adjudication of claims.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Although SCIF is not a profit loading entity, correct?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Well, it is a nonprofit organization that has been using its margin to rebuild its surplus and its reserves.  As to profit, no, it is not profit in that sense.  In terms of cash flow to the organization, it certainly is.

CHAIR SPEIER:  So you’re suggesting that SCIF could probably reduce its premiums by another 15%?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  No, I’m not making any judgment as to what SCIF can and should do.  That is up to the management of SCIF.  My task here is to gather the facts as to what exactly is taking place in the industry.  And what is taking place in the industry is that they are….the industry as a whole is reporting to us a pure premium that on average is 14% reduction as of last January, from July 2003.  However, that is not what is being charged to the businesses.

CHAIR SPEIER:  I understand that.  My only point is this, you make an advisory recommendation which insurance companies can take or leave.  
COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Correct.

CHAIR SPEIER:  But it’s your best assessment of what the market should be reflecting in their premiums, correct?
COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  I believe that insurance companies can reduce their premiums by the amount that I’ve suggested—23%, almost 24% as of January, and more to come.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  And you’ve said north of 30%.  You have SCIF which is probably at around 14%.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  I wouldn’t make that assessment without the information that we’re now collecting.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  That is what they filed on their pure premium side, but that may or may not be what they’re actually charging businesses.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Now couldn’t you write a letter to the Governor, since he has appointed the majority of the members of the SCIF Board, and recommend to him that based on your assessment SCIF could and should, to alleviate the financial pain that so many businesses in California have endured, to reduce their premiums and augment their surplus and reserves over a longer period of time and bring more relief to businesses in California?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  We have been in communication with this governor and the previous governor about our concerns with SCIF, its operations, and we continue to communicate regularly with the governor’s office, expressing our concerns, and they are aware of the concerns that I have stated, which are similar to what you’ve said.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Senator Cox has a question, and then Senator Lowenthal.

SENATOR COX:  Mr. Commissioner, let me just be sure that I understood what you said.  I believe I heard you say that the State Fund is working far too quickly to restore their surplus?
COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  What I said is, that we have asked State Fund to develop a long range plan, three to five years (we’d recommend five years), on how they would go about restoring their financial strength.  We have not received such a plan.  We do know that they’ve taken a policy to very quickly restore their financial strength.  We believe that they can restore their financial strength over time, and simultaneously, significantly reduce rates. They’ve chosen thus far not to do that.

SENATOR COX:  Mr. Commissioner, wasn’t it your Department that said to the state insurance commissioner, your reserves are dangerously low and unless you immediately improve your reserves, I’m going to take the State Fund over?  Isn’t that generally speaking, your remark to that industry?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  No.  That is not the case at all.  We did say, if I might, we did say to State Fund and anybody else that would listen, that State Fund has serious financial problems.  We asked State Fund to develop a plan, as I said a moment ago, to address those issues.  A major legal fight then ensued as to whether we had the authority under the Risk Based Capital Law to require State Fund to develop a plan.  I said, we said, many, many times, that we have no intention of taking over State Fund.

SENATOR COX:  And you never made the statement publicly or to any member of this committee, that you were not prepared to takeover the State Fund if they didn’t increase their reserves?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  I have never ever intended to takeover State Fund.  I’ve made it very clear to State Fund that they needed to address their problems.  That they were in fact subject to Risk Based Capital and indeed a superior court has agreed with me that they were subject to Risk Based Capital.  We’ve always been very clear to State Fund and to others, that it is not our intent.  And in fact, we think it very unwise for the Department of Insurance to takeover State Fund.  And we believe that the legal authority to takeover State Fund is questionable.  However, there is no doubt in our mind that we do have the legal authority, based upon a recent law that this committee and this Legislature and the previous governor approved, to regulate State Fund with regard to the Risk Based Capital Laws.

SENATOR COX:  Let me make sure that I understand you—I want to be sure that I understand, that you’re saying now that you believe State Fund is increasing their reserve more rapidly than they should be?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  I would say that they have the ability to institute a program over a five-year period of time that would rebuild their surpluses and their reserves while simultaneously passing a significant amount of the savings on to businesses of California.

SENATOR COX:  And Mr. Commissioner, has your department developed any formula and/or any data relative to the contingent liabilities that are created in the marketplace because of the tail relative to workers’ compensation claims specifically?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  The answer is, yes.  That has to do with the reserves of all insurance companies, specifically workers’ compensation.  We do an ongoing analysis of the reserves.  A statistical actuarial analysis of those reserves, taking into account that precise issue, the long tail of workers’ compensation costs.

SENATOR COX:  And recognizing this is just a point in time, but at this point in time, could you supply us with the data from your department relative to the contingent liability of the tails that you believe to exist in the workers’ compensation arena?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  If I might ask what your definition of “contingent liabilities” is so that we can respond appropriately?
SENATOR COX:  My definition is the tail that’s out there which may or may not materialize, and based upon the reserves that companies have to, in fact _______.
COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  We would be happy to do that.  Did you want that with SCIF or with all of the workers’ comp companies?

SENATOR COX:  I’d like to see it with all the companies if you have that, Sir.  If it’s not too much burden for you.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  It’s a rather long and high stack of papers, but we’ll provide it to you.

SENATOR COX:  Let’s just take the five major workers’ compensation…the three major workers’ compensation companies in the marketplace and just look at those numbers, if you have those readily available.  If you don’t, just say so.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  I believe SCIF is readily available.  We’ve been doing that analysis on a semi-annual basis, and that certainly is available.  The other five, one of them is a domestic company, and that is readily available.  With regard to three, we’d have to go to their domiciliary state to get it. 

SENATOR COX:  Let’s just use, Madam Chair, if I might refine that, let’s just use the two companies that’s easy to get.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Certainly.  We’ll be happy to do so.

SENATAOR COX:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Senator Lowenthal.

SENATOR LOWENTHAL:  I think most of my questions in following this have been raised and answered, Commissioner.  But, in following what you said about State Compensation Insurance Fund, that they’re rebuilding both their reserves and having an adequate, or adequate reserves and appropriate surplus, that they could have come up with a five-year plan to have stretched that out or placed that out, but instead, they have chosen to rapidly do that.  Do you have any idea, with this kind of activity going on, when they will reach some level of adequacy now?  I mean, if they’re front loading it, when is this going to happen, and will we know at that point that, or will you know at that point, when they’ve reached some kind of adequate level that you can come back and then begin to address this issue if they refuse to develop this long range plan?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Well I would recommend very, very strongly to State Fund that they develop a plan that deals with, certainly, the reserves and the surplus, as well as management issues and organizational issues that are, I think, well established.  And, in fact, the Governor has, and the Board of Directors have, brought in an outside consultant who, I understand, is in the process of doing that.  

With regard to the reserves and the adequacy of reserves and the surplus, we are engaged at this moment in a renewed analysis of the current status.  That is not yet complete.  Preliminarily, they have a ways to go.  And as I said before, they have time to get it done.  They, however, have chosen to do it very quickly.

SENATOR LOWENTHAL:  When would we have some idea about when to expect that the rate that they’re going now, that they would reach that number?  Do you have any idea when you will be able to report back to us or let us know?  I mean, if they’re not responding to this long range plan…
COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Well, I would like to report back to the committee on that.  I don’t want to give you a hypothetical.  This is obviously some sensitive issues around this whole issue that I just don’t want to guess at that.  We are working closely with State Fund, as recently as yesterday, on this issue and we’ll see….within a very short period of time I should be able to report to you and to the committee with some specificity.  In the meantime, I just think it’s inappropriate to guess.

SENATOR LOWENTHAL:  Thank you.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Senator Hollingsworth.

SENATOR HOLLINGSWORTH:  On this issue of whether rates are declining at a rate that we’d like to see, or as quickly as we’d like to see, what is the number of new companies in the marketplace writing policies for workers’ compensation since the reforms last year?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  We have four new companies that have come in in the last 18 months.  There are two more that are near completion and will enter.  All of these companies are important, but pale in significance to the size of the market.  They’re very, very small players; less than 1%.  
SENATOR HOLLINGSWORTH:  All of them combined are less than 1%?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  I don’t think I can say that.  I’d have to get the exact numbers.  But individually, they’re less than 1%.  The large national company that basically ran away from California in the late nineties and early two-thousands, are returning.  They have significant capital, and they have significant ability to make an in-road.  
What we’re finding in the marketplace, in my opinion, and we’re investigating this further, is that given State Fund’s size and dominance, that is a classic market leader, and the companies, all of them, both new and existing, national companies are pricing near State Fund and cherry picking.

SENATOR HOLLINGSWORTH:  That was my next question.  What are they offering policies generally in relation to State Fund and the other insurers who were operating under the older system?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  It appears that they’re pricing around State Fund’s price.  There’s no reason for them to do otherwise.

SENATOR HOLLINGSWORTH:  That’s not the information that I’ve heard.  I’ve heard from numerous constituents that new companies are coming in and offering policies 20% less than State Fund.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Undoubtedly that is true.  And you’ll find that kind of pricing to obtain a desired company that they want to underwrite.  But on average, across the board the preliminary information is that most companies are pricing near State Fund.

SENATOR LOWENTHAL:  What percentage of the marketplace has switched to these new companies that are now offering writing policies in this state?  Is it significant?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  It’s unclear and difficult to establish for the following reasons—the market is basically divided into three parts: the government, the self insured, and the insured marketplace.  There has clearly been a switch from the insured marketplace to either self-insured, or quasi self-insured.  So we’ve seen that happen.  Clearly, State Fund has seen some decline in its business, whether it was due to others picking up a larger or that portion of it, or companies going to either self-insured or quasi self-insured is not clear.  This speaks to one of the issues I would like the Legislature to address with our help and the help of the Division of Workers’ Compensation, and that is, the reporting mechanisms on what’s going on in workers’ compensation are very, very scant and incomplete, and, frankly, insufficient to understand exactly what’s going on now.  We are asking the Legislature to address this.  There is a bill moving around in one committee or another that partially does it.  We would suggest that it be expanded to provide more timely information on all types of workers’ comp, both public and self-insured.
SENATOR HOLLINGSWORTH:  What percentage, or is there a way to give the committee some idea as to the number of cases that are still working through the system, or the percentage of the overall cost to the market that is still related to the system previous to last year’s reforms?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  To the old law?  The way the law is written, the medical portion of the old cases prior to the 227 and 228 and SB 899, those medical costs, those medical services, are now under the new guidelines.  And so there is a significant effect on those old claims (and this speaks to the issue that Mr. Cox raised about the long tail) and so we’re seeing an adjustment of reserves for most all companies as a result of that.  The permanent disability schedule is brand new and the implementation of the permanent disability schedule is new, and after tomorrow I can give you a better idea of what that’s all about.  We don’t have that information….tomorrow’s hearing is on that issue.

SENATOR HOLLINGSWORTH:  What I’m asking is to compare oranges to oranges you would have to compare the relative effect of that long tail on the companies that continued to write business in California with the new companies that are coming in and their lack of having that burden on them, and see what they ought to be, in your opinion, providing to reflect the rates on _________.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  You’ve raised a very good point.  To the extent that the reserves for the companies that were here are adequate, they should be able to price according to the new regime, the new laws and regulations.  To the extent that they are inadequate, and this speaks to the SCIF issue, they will have to keep their rates somewhat higher than otherwise necessary to rebuild either their surplus or their reserves or both.  And this takes us back to where SCIF is.

CHAIR SPEIER:  I’d like to remind my colleagues that we don’t have jurisdiction over workers’ compensation in the committee.  

UNIDENTIFIED:  Then why are we talking about it?

CHAIR SPEIER:  We have SCIF’s jurisdiction, but we don’t have jurisdiction over workers’ compensation.

Mr. Denham, did you have a question?

SENATOR DENHAM:  A couple of quick questions on workers’ comp.  Does State Fund have money sitting on its receivable or old debt that is due to companies that due to the higher cost of business here in this state, or higher cost of workers’ comp, unforeseen cost of workers’ comp, force them to go out of business or bankrupt?  Is there an old debt receivable?  Money that may be difficult to collect because the companies went out of business or moved out of the state or out of the country.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Are you referring to insurance companies that went out of, or employers?

SENATOR DENHAM:  Small business.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Small businesses that left?

SENATOR DENHAM:  Yeah.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  I do not know.  We can find out for you.  We can ask SCIF if that’s the case.  Probably there’s some.  There’s undoubtedly some that they would have.  I would imagine that would be the case, but I have no idea what it is.

SENATOR DENHAM:  The second question that I have is, I’m sure that a number of the businesses that are leaving State Fund right now are leaving, I would imagine a larger percentage is big business that is able to become self-insured.  I would like to know what that percentage is of the business that is leaving State Fund, or going out to find new insurance.

And secondly, as small business owners, is there any incentive to switch from State Fund?  As more insurance companies come back into the state, is there an incentive or any type of notification that would say, as a small business owner, hey, by the way, we just had x-amount of new companies come into the state?
COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  With regard to your first question, we don’t know.  We could probably estimate the percentage with the help of the Division of Workers’ Compensation, who are required to license the self-insured.  We could query them and see what the growth is.  This speaks to the reporting issue that I spoke to a few moments ago.  It’s just not readily available.

With regard to the second point, when I’m outside this building and talking to employers, my advice to them is, get a hold of your broker and start checking out the market because there are workers’ compensation insurance companies out there that are seeking business and providing, in some cases, advantageous pricing.  And so there is capacity.  There is some increased competition.  And the opportunity to shop around, while limited, does exist in this state.  It’s a much, much better situation today than it was two years ago, but it is far from a perfect situation, however, a good situation for competition.  We encourage that competition to exist and to increase.
SENATOR DENHAM:  I guess my question would be, how do you encourage that?  I can tell you how my business was encouraged to go to State Fund—my company left the state and my broker called up one day and said, You’re going to State Fund, that’s it.  But prior to that, I’d never really shopped for workers’ comp insurance.  I started a new business; I found a broker; and that broker helped me to meet my specific needs.

For small businesses that are out there right now today, I imagine while the cost of State Fund is very high, that their insurance needs are being met.  So I would think that if State Fund were trying to lessen the amount that its carrying right now, that there would be some type of information, incentive, or someway to say there are other opportunities now coming back to the state.
COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  A couple of things that are readily available—first of all, I don’t know the time period that you’re talking about the company that you were discussing, but clearly, a year ago, State Fund was basically the only place for small businesses to go.  And it still today remains the principal source, and in many cases, the only source, of workers’ compensation insurance.  They are fulfilling their appropriate of being the insurer of last resort, and that’s appropriate that they do so.  In fact, there’s a law that went on the books in January that says that’s what they are.  

Now there is a website, our website, that does display the workers’ compensation insurance companies that are operating in the state of California, and provides some helpful information on price comparisons.  Please don’t believe that’s the cost that a company will have because each company is unique and the prices vary, as I discussed earlier.  But there is a website that does provide some helpful information or some sense of direction.
SENATOR DENHAM:  Thank you.  And in the interest of trying to move along, I’d like to just address that with you at a future date and correspond back and forth.  

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  As soon as we’re finished here I’ll be outside.

SENATOR DENHAM:  All right.  Thank you.
CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Thank you.  One generic question and then we’ll move on to rate regulation.

The annual report of the insurance commissioner is required to be published each year.  The last report that we have is the annual report of 2002 that was published in April of 2005.  Why haven’t we received the annual reports for 2003 and 2004, which was your term as insurance commissioner?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Because we were working on 2002 initially.  And we are working diligently to get ’03, ’04, and catch up and then go…

CHAIR SPEIER:  So when do you anticipate that the Legislature will have the annual report of 2003?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  We expect to complete 2003 within a couple of months.  Your queries to my department substantially enhanced the probability of more quick response on 2003 and ’04.  
CHAIR SPEIER:  Good.  That’s what we’re here for.  
COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  You made us do our homework.

CHAIR SPEIER:  So you anticipate by August, probably, we can anticipate 2003, and 2004 maybe by the end of the year?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  My chief deputy says yes.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Let’s move on to rate regulation.  And there is a witness who has to leave by 3:00, so to accommodate that we’ll ask Mr. Heller to join us.  And if you go to the background, Mr. Commissioner, there is a reference to, on page-18 on the backgrounder that you’ve probably seen, I hope.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Yes.

CHAIR SPEIER:  There is an excerpt from a workshop, I guess, that took place a year ago in January that focuses on zip code rating.  And your comments were very specific, that you thought it was unjust, unfair, and must change, and you made some very robust comments about how soon you intended to change them.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  That, I did.

CHAIR SPEIER:  And, we still haven’t seen them.  So, Mr. Heller, maybe you might want to speak and then we can have the Commissioner respond.

DOUGLAS HELLER:  Thank you.  Madam Chair, Mr. Commissioner, members of the committee, I’m Douglas Heller with the Foundation for Taxpayer and Consumer Rights.  And let me first start by saying that it is not only my belief, but the belief of our organization, and I think a lot of the consumer organizations in the state, that Insurance Commissioner John Garamendi has, in many respects, served California consumers well.  However, on one very important issue, the Commissioner has stalled reform efforts and indeed broken a promise to Californians.
From late 2003 through early 2004, Commissioner Garamendi often reiterated, as, Madam Chair, you just pointed out, a promise to fix the current auto rating system, which, as it stands now, allows insurance companies to charge premiums based primarily on where a motorist lives, and in some instances, marital status, rather than on their driving record itself.

Under the current system put in place by former Insurance Commissioner Chuck Quackenbush, good drivers living in zip codes disliked by insurance companies pay as much as $500 more for basic liability insurance than drivers with the same exact driving record living across the street in what happens to be a different zip code.  

As you know, Madam Chair, members of the committee, in 1988 voters changed California law through Proposition 103 to require that auto insurers base rates predominantly on how a motorist drives, not where they live.  However, those rules have long been ignored by insurers and regulators.

Last year during a series of town hall meetings, Commissioner Garamendi repeatedly identified the Quackenbush system, and I’ll quote the Commissioner, if I may, as “Neither fair, equitable, nor is it justifiable.”  And for months the Commissioner promised, and again, I will just quote the Commissioner, “I will change the regulations, let there be no doubt about that.  The schedule is such that by midsummer 2004 there will be new regulations out on the street.  We’re in that process.  We’re well in to it.  We have five months of very tough hard work ahead of us.”  Well, it is now more than a year since those pronouncements and the Commissioner has not even issued proposed regulations to address this insurance system that, again, using the Commissioner’s words, “is irrational.  It is unfair, and it is inequitable.”  Instead, the Commissioner has delayed the process by calling for a private study, which itself will not likely be completed until the end of 2005.

Madam Chair, it is our view that Commissioner Garamendi is filibustering auto insurance reform and allowing insurance companies to continue a pernicious practice that the Commissioner railed against, as, and again I will quote the Commissioner, “A clear form of redlining”.  For 30 years Californians have been complaining about premiums skyrocketing based on where they live.  And in 1988, California voters said no to that and called to change the rules.  But now the Commissioner, who can fix this problem with a stroke of a pen, has become another road block to justice.  And I would say, what makes this particularly disturbing, in addition to the promises that were made last year, is that this delay feels something like de ja vu. Because when Commissioner Garamendi was first commissioner over a decade ago, he began the process of developing rules to end zip code-based auto insurance pursuant to Prop. 103.  But then rather than simply issue regulations to comply with the law, Commissioner Garamendi called for a study to look into how the changes would impact Californians.  That study, which I have a copy of here from December of 1994, concluded that new fairer rules could be developed and implemented to the benefit of good drivers throughout the state, but, and I’m going to read if I could the preface, dated December 27, 1994, “Unfortunately, due to the lengthy court battles and the eighteen month data collection and analysis process, we ran out of time to adopt the final regulations which would specify the method to calculate waiting factors.  I hope that the new insurance commissioner will use the sound research findings in this report to implement the final rate regulations for auto rating factors required by Proposition 103.  John Garamendi, Insurance Commissioner, December 27, 1994.”
Well, the next commissioner was Chuck Quackenbush, and as commissioner he ignored these findings.  In fact, he actually destroyed the data that was used for this report and issued rules allowing insurance companies to continue zip code discrimination.  So in 1994, Commissioner Garamendi avoided fixing what was known to be a problem and the voters asked to change by having an 18-month study and finally saying, “Well, I don’t have time to solve the problem.”

I’m afraid we’re being set up for the same let down this time, and that that’s not fair, especially in light of the promises from Commissioner Garamendi. 

This committee, and I know the Commissioner, himself, as I’ve quoted, has talked for years about the problem of zip code rating in every single district of every member of this committee and every member of this legislature.  There are people who are paying more because they happen to live in the wrong zip code.  We know that good drivers are suffering under an unfair system.  We don’t need another study to tell us what ought to be done.  We really only need to look at what the Commissioner has said when he emphasized how important is was, again in his own words, “What I call discrimination doesn’t continue in California.”  That is what Commissioner Garamendi had to say just over a year-and-a-half ago.

Now the insurance industry, and it’s important to note, has spent a lot of money campaigning with a “sky is falling, Chicken Little” argument to divert the Commissioner from reforming the system.  And there is no doubt that it takes special courage to stand up to the insurance industry in this state, but that is exactly what Californians expect of their insurance commissioner.

So if this is not a filibuster, Mr. Commissioner, then it is time to fulfill the goals that were set out 10 years ago and promises that were made last year and change a system that plagues so many good drivers, and implement what I believe the Commissioner knows, to be the voters’ mandate.

So, Chairwoman Speier, I appreciate the time to make these comments.  I do hope that the Commissioner will take this issue and finally resolve this decades old problem.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Mr. Commissioner, would you like to respond?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Of course.  I’d be happy to respond.  I understand fully, Mr. Heller’s point of view.  The statements that he’s referring to were made during, but before the completion, of the third of seven statewide hearings throughout the state of California to gather information on this issue.  The two proposals that we received have significant implications and cost shifting if they were to be imposed as proposed.  As we moved through the hearings from one part of the state to the other, and as we gathered information, it became very clear that the proposals had unintended consequences—significant cost shifting that was not apparently justified by the costs of claims in those areas that would have received the increased cost of the insurance.
What I said was accurate.  Zip codes are inappropriate.  Zip codes are all that I said before.  Mr. Heller knows this.  We are not filibustering.  We’re going to do it correctly.  I have no intention of creating another problem simply to solve one problem.  This is an extremely complex issue.  Prop. 103, as interpreted by the Appellate Court, in a case that was brought by Mr. Heller, says very clearly that while good driver and other factors specifically enumerated in Prop. 103 should be used, or shall be used; other factors can be used.  Mr. Quackenbush’s regulations were found to be valid, even though they continued the zip code rating. 

Now, I intend to change the zip code rating program in California before I leave, but I do not intend to do it incorrectly and to create worse or additional problems in doing so.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Mr. Commissioner, you said that Commissioner Quackenbush’s regulations were considered valid.  I am told that it wasn’t that the regulations were valid, but that he has discretion as commissioner to develop other regulations.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Which he did, and the court refused to overturn his regulations.  Therefore, they are valid.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Well they are valid, but there is a new insurance commissioner.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Absolutely true.  I have the power to change them, and I’m going to.  But I’m going to do it correctly.  I will not be rushed into doing it in a manner that would create additional problems.

CHAIR SPEIER:  I don’t think you’re being rushed.  I mean, those were statements you made, however, that you were going to do them in five months.
COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Oh, absolutely.  And those statements were made during the course of the third hearing.  Now, four additional hearings were undertaken throughout the state of California, both in rural and in urban areas.  Additional information was developed.  The proposals were tested by people that supported them and opposed them.  And I understand, very good and well, the desire of Mr. Heller to get this done.  I share that.  But I’ve told Mr. Heller and others who want this done today, that it will get done when we have the information, the impact studies—when we have the information, so that we do not create a worse problem, or an additional problem as we solve the zip code problem.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Well, let me ask you about that problem, as you refer to it.  This is an issue that this committee has held numerous hearings on.  It has been debated in the courts for almost a decade now, give or take a few years.  And in the end, I think I certainly come down on the side that what should determine your premium is your driving record, not where you live.  And there is some cost shifting, as you indicated, involved in that.  
The cost shifting argument that has been raised over time is that you will have persons living in rural areas start to be paying more than people in urban areas.  Is that what you’re concerned about in terms of the cost shifting?  And if that isn’t what you’re concerned about, what is the concern you have about the cost shifting?
COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  We had two proposals before us.  Both of those proposals created significant shifts within urban areas and significant shifts in rural areas.  Not necessarily shifts between urban and rural, but within both rural and urban areas, so the shifting took place.  It was not clear how and why that shifting would occur, and it was not clear if it was related to the cost of claims in a given area.  As I recall the Appellate Court decision, the cost factor has to be considered.  That is the cost of claims has to be considered.  Now to go willy-nilly about this and not consider that would simply put us back before the court and delay whatever implementation there would be, whatever immediate implementation might be available.  
We have a process underway today to gather information from the insurance companies that deals with that issue.  Now when that information is complete, and it does take longer than I would like, but it has to be done correctly, if we’re going to have a regulation in place that deals with the zip code that is sustainable through the inevitable court challenges.  

I will also remind you, I’m sure you well know, that driving record is not the only mandatory factor.  There are two other mandatory factors that have to be taken into account, plus, as the court said, any other thing that the commissioner might want to include.
CHAIR SPEIER:  Commissioner Garamendi, you don’t hesitate to go where others fear to tread in many areas, and you seem to be overly cautious in an area where there has been historical discrimination against people based on where they lived, not based on their driving record, the number of miles they drive a year, and the number of years of driving experience, which are the three mandatory factors.  So zip code has been able to ease into that whole evaluation for premium purposes in what I would suggest is a fairly insidious way.  And it just seems so fundamentally unfair.  And to suggest that we now should just….you’re in the third year of a four-year term and I guess the question that I have is, when do you think you’re going to have regulations?  Give us a date.
COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Before I leave this office.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Pardon me.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Before I leave this office this job will be done.  

I would also point out to you that there is another insidious factor that exists in the present rating structure and that is, marital status.  Now, an individual who is married will receive a lower rate.  And in fact, that factor has a greater impact in the rating for the largest auto insurance company in the state, State Farm, so your marriage factor has more weight than zip code for that particular company.  Now if you have the unfortunate situation of getting divorced, your rates go up.  Are you a worse driver because you’re divorced or no longer married, or never been married?  We have to deal with these multiple issues when we do this. 

As I said, I intend to get this done, and I want to do it correctly.
CHAIR SPEIER:  So when will you address marital status?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  When will I?  As part of what we intend to do.

CHAIR SPEIER:  As part of what you’re doing relative to zip codes.  So by the end of 2006 we will have a new regulation, is that your…?
COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Count on it.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Count on it.  Okay. 

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Count on it.  Write it down, and hold a hearing December 31, 2006, and it will be done.

CHAIR SPEIER:  I won’t be in office any longer as a member of the state senate.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  No, you will be on December 31st.  Actually, probably January something.  No, you’re right.

CHAIR SPEIER:  No, December.  You’re forgetting your years in the Senate.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Early December, hold a hearing.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Anything further you have?

MR. HELLER:  Simply, thank you for the opportunity.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Anything further on zip codes?  All right.  Let’s move to just the general topic of rate regulation.
Commissioner, there are some questions referenced in the backgrounder on the timely review of filings—How long on average does the rate regulation branch take to review a rate filing?  Has that period of time grown, shrunk, or remained relatively constant over the last four years?  Do you have a response to that question?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  I’m sorry.

CHAIR SPEIER:  It’s on page-16.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Thank you.  Let me ask David Diehl to come up and to assist me with this particular one.  David is responsible for the rate regulation, and has had that position now for about one year.  And he’s prepared to answer the questions, right David?

DAVID DIEHL:  I hope so.  The question dealt with the average turnaround time of filings.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Yes, that is the question.

MR. DIEHL:  Based upon looking at the timeframe between the appearance on a public notice and when the analyst review of the filing is complete, the average turnaround time would be about 40 days.  

CHAIR SPEIER:  That’s what it’s taking now?

MR. DIEHL:  That is an average going from 2001 through 2005.  I have the specifics if you’re interested in that.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Sure.  Could you give them to us?

MR. DIEHL:  2001, 39 days; 2002, 41 days; 2003, 50 days.  2003 involved a lot of terrorism filings, so we are reactive to what comes in.  If a lot comes in, then it slows down the process.  2004, 38 days; and so far, 2005 is 35 days.  Now, the thing we need to be aware of is that even though our review process might be completed in 5 days, or 15 days, or 35 days, we can’t officially send an approval letter out until after the 45th day as required by the regulations so that representatives of consumer groups can file a petition of hearing if they choose to do so.  So, it’s pretty good.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Do you have some mood lighting?  

MR. DIEHL:  Is it time to go home?

UNIDENTIFIED:  It’s a great answer.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Thank you.  Let’s then move onto the issue of generic factor determinations, on page-17, Mr. Commissioner.  In a response to a question raised by the committee, the Department suggested that individual rate determinations appear to be done on a case by case basis without the use of any published guidance.  And there is a requirement under CCR Title 10 Chapter 5, that you will, in fact, develop guidelines.  And the question, I guess, that we have is, why you have not done what is required by CCR, and instead, have done this case by case review that doesn’t then give the insurers the benefit of guidelines that they can use?
COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  This issue dates back to the very inception of Prop. 103 as to what is a guideline or a generic factor.  Since the implementation of Proposition 103 in 1992 and ’93, the process of rate regulation has gone forward without specific generic factors.  There are generalized procedures that are being used by the Department and by the insurance companies that are applied to the filings that we receive.  The generic issues remains with us.  The result of the, what is now a long history of implementation of Proposition 103 without these specific generics is, that California enjoys, through rate regulation, among the lowest, if not the lowest, auto rates in the country.  We’re very pleased with that.  However we anticipate that we will be….in fact, we are now working towards the implementation of some generic factors.

The generic factors have a specific problem—the world changes.  And so we’d be in constant situation of having to update the generic factors.  For example, interest rate changes and so forth.  So, without the generics, the system has worked to the advantage of consumers and, also to insurance companies who have seen significant stability in the California auto insurance market, and apparently acceptable profit levels.  

However, we are now, and have been for the last several months, in the process of working towards establishing generics, and we expect that we will be able to complete at least some of the generics, more appropriate and necessary generics, in the course of the next several months.

CHAIR SPEIER:  How often does the Rate Regulation Branch refuse to approve a proposed rate?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  It just happens that David has a statistic for you.

MR. DIEHL:  We have numbers for everything.  Thirty-seven percent.

CHAIR SPEIER:   And they are rejected because of what?

MR. DIEHL:  Well, to give you the specifics, they’re either withdrawn or approved at a lower amount.  Illustrative example, a company comes in and says, We want 13%.  Just because they say they want 13% doesn’t mean they are going to get it.  We perform our own review, and any time that we come up with something less than that, that is considered a disapproval.  The company could withdraw the filing; we consider that in our rejection.  Or, they could say, We agree with your analysis Department of Insurance and 7% is more appropriate.  So we are disapproving what they asked for, meaning that California consumers are getting the benefit of our review.  It’s just not “what you ask for is what you get.”
CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Would you provide to the committee, you said, 37% rejection rate over the last three years?

MR. DIEHL:  Yes.  Actually, I have some numbers here.  Since January 1, 2001, we processed 4,410 requests for rate increases.  Of those requests, 1,637, or 37%, were either withdrawn or approved a lower amount than was requested.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Okay.  If you could just provide the committee with that data at your convenience, we’d like to just see how many are just withdrawn outright; how many of them are later approved at a lower rate; and what lower rate is it as compared to what it was requested at?

MR. DIEHL:  Yes.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Okay.  If you could do that on a yearly basis for us, that would be helpful.

Senator Cox.

SENATOR COX:  Thank you Madam Chair.  Let me just ask a couple of questions, if I may, Mr. Commissioner.  Do you recall the number of employees that the Department had prior to the passage of 103, which was 1988?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  No.

SENATOR COX:  My recollection, by the way, it was a little over 300, or just a little less than 300, but, you don’t know that.  Okay.  It’s not a problem.

Mr. Commissioner, let me just ask your designee whether or not….and let me back up by saying to you, in looking at the data, it appears that you currently have some 1,300 employees, and you have, if I may, that perhaps the largest budget in the United States relative to an insurance commission.  Would you agree with that, Sir?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  I think we have somewhere over 1,200.  As to whether our budget is the largest in the nation, I suspect that you’re looking at a NAIC document, and if you say it’s so, I’ll take your word for it.  I don’t watch the other…

SENATOR COX:  Certainly number one or two.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  We’re also the largest state by some 
10 million people.

SENATOR COX:  Let me ask you with respect to the Proposition 103—

Mr. Commissioner, do you have adequate resources to review the rates of, and personnel, if you will, to implement the prior approval process as required by Proposition 103?  So my question, Mr. Commissioner is, do you have the staff and resources with some 1,200 employees, whether it’s 1,200 or 1,350, do you have the resources, adequate resources, to review the rates and to, in fact, implement the prior approval process in California as required by Proposition 103?
COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  This activity takes place in David Diehl’s part of the Department.  David, what’s the answer?  Do we have enough or do we not have enough?

MR. DIEHL:  Bureaucrats always like more.  However, having said that, we are a reactive organization, and if we could somehow project and know what insurance companies were going to do, I’d be able to give you a legitimate answer.  

SENATOR COX:  Mr. Diehl, how about just a general answer then?  Do you have the resources and the man power and the personnel to review the rates and to implement a prior approval process as in accordance with Proposition 103?

MR. DIEHL:  Given the work flow that we have today, I think we are pretty much where we should be.  However, if the companies all of a sudden decide to start submitting a lot more filings to us, we could be back here next year and I could be saying it’s taking a heck of a lot longer because the insurance companies decided to submit more filings, thus increasing the workload.

SENATOR COX:  Mr. Diehl, since the passage of Proposition 103, is it your general opinion that you’ve had adequate resources and personnel to do prior approval?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  If I might, Senator Cox, David’s been here one year.

SENATOR COX:  Let me ask you then, Mr. Commissioner.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Thank you.  I was going to suggest that.

SENATOR COX:  Excuse me.  You’re the one who directed me to him.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  I’m now directing you back to me.

SENATOR COX:  All right.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  The prior approval process began about 1993.  Before that time there was extraordinary legal conflict as to the implementation of Proposition 103.  The staff necessary to do rate approvals was built during my first term.  I think that the statistics that David read to you a moment ago indicate that we’re okay now with what we have.  At the outset I can tell you from memory, it was a grind and we had not only prior approval, but we had rollback issues.  It was an extraordinary task, and I’m suspecting, as I recall, that we were very slow in getting these things done.  Since that time, and I think we need to look to the current history, we’re doing okay.  Now as David said, if we get a workload tossed on us by the insurance companies, like rate approval for workers’ compensation, a bill that’s moving through the Legislature—not this committee, but other committees, and I think it may be over in the Assembly now—we’re going to need staff.  If there’s rate approval for healthcare, another bill moving through the Legislature, then we’re going to need more staff.

SENATOR COX:  Let me come back to that part.  Is it accurate to say that since 2003, you believe that you’ve had adequate personnel?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  For rate approval?

SENATOR COX:  Yes.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  We’re within range.  There’s always up and down, and maybe we need another one or two or three here and there, but in general, the staff works hard and gets the job done in a timely way.

SENATOR COX:  Okay.  Well then Mr. Commissioner, let me ask you if I could direct your attention to the amicus that was filed by Mr. Cohen.  You’re aware of the amicus that was filed in the Donabedian vs. Mercury case?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  I’m familiar.  But I can assure you, Mr. Cohen, who is sitting in front of me is more familiar.

SENATOR COX:  All right.  Let me just call to your attention, 
Mr. Commissioner, if I can, where Mr. Cohen, in his amicus indicated that the Department didn’t have sufficient resources, and I presume he meant dollars and people, to, in fact, provide prior approval, and therefore, the Department would welcome the private attorneys.  And so, you’ve just testified, Mr. Commissioner, that you had adequate resources.  But Mr. Cohen has indicated that you didn’t in your amicus.  Can you tell me which is accurate?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Mr. Cohen can.

GARY COHEN:  Thank you, Commissioner.  Senator Cox, I think they’re both accurate.  I don’t believe the Donabedian case has anything to do with prior approval, so the issue in that case was not….we don’t believe that private citizens should be bringing lawsuits in the process of prior approval that the Department carries out.  But what Prop. 103 says quite clearly is, that any person has standing to enforce the provisions of Proposition 103.  So if the Department approves a rate that a consumer believes is an unlawful rate, or if an insurance company, as was the allegation on the Donabedian case, applies a lawfully approved rate in an unlawful manner, the law states that private citizens may sue, under Proposition 103, and that’s the position that we took in the Donabedian case, and that’s the position that the court upheld in the Donabedian case.

SENATOR COX:  Well, Mr. Cohen, I believe we have a different interpretation of what the court said.  My interpretation is different than your interpretation.  I think what the Second District Court of Appeals ruled under Proposition 103, that any citizen had the right as a private citizen attorney general, to directly sue any insurance company if he or she disagrees with the company’s rates, rules, or underwriting plan that have, in fact, been approved by the Department of Insurance.  And in your amicus you simply said that the Department did not have the resources to, in fact, review the rates.  Now that’s in direct contradiction to what your commissioner said.

MR. COHEN:  With respect, Senator, that’s not what the brief says.  It not that we didn’t have the people to review the rates, it’s that we don’t have the ability to do review what every insurance company out there in the world….they submit a filing to us; we review the filing; and we certainly have the ability, as Mr. Diehl has said, to respond to the filing.  But once they’re out there in the world charging people what they’re charging, they may do something that is different from what it is that we’ve approved, and that was the situation in Donabedian.
SENATOR COX:  Well let’s go down that path for just a moment then, Mr. Cohen.  What you essentially said, even though your department has approved the rates, and you don’t disagree that you, in fact, have adequate resources, you still encouraged there to be….even though your department had approved the rates, your department said because it didn’t have the resources, that you encouraged the private citizen attorney to file an action.

MR. COHEN:  Well, it’s my view, Senator, that the Department of Insurance may not approve an unlawful rate.  So the fact that we approve a rate means that a company may charge that rate.  But what Proposition 103 says, is that regardless of the fact that we’ve approved a rate, a private citizen may go to court and sue, and if they’re successful in establishing that that was an unlawful rate, notwithstanding our approval, the court’s responsibility is to overturn that rate.  And that’s what that case stands for.

SENATOR COX:  Madam Chair, I still want to try to nail this situation down.

CHAIR SPEIER:  I don’t think you’re going to, but go ahead.

SENATOR COX:  I still want to try to nail this down because it seems to me that in your amicus you simply said that you agreed that even though you’d approved the rates, that in fact a private citizen attorney general ought to have the ability to directly sue any insurance company if he or she disagrees with the company’s rates even though they have been approved by the Department.  Now is that your position?

MR. COHEN:  That’s correct.  Yes.  That was our position and is our position.

SENATOR COX:  Oh, that’s very interesting. 

MR. COHEN:  And what we think is what the law provides.

SENATOR COX:  You stated in the amicus though, and if you’ve got the brief, you’ll find it on page-19, by the way….you urged the court to approve the citizen lawsuits against the insurance companies explaining that you lacked the resources to, in fact, pursue the allegations.  Your commissioner, in fact, says that you had the resources to do that.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  No.  You misinterpret my remarks and my specific answer to your question.  You asked about the rate making process. That is what Mr. Diehl is doing.

SENATOR COX:  And this has to do with….

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  This goes beyond that.  It’s the application of the rate.  It may very well be that we have erred; made a bad judgment; and given a rate, or approved a rate, that is unlawful.  And we believe that Prop. 103, as written, allows a private citizen to sue, and that’s what the brief says.

SENATOR COX:  Under Proposition 103, you have the exclusive and the original jurisdiction, do you not, to approve the rates?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  I’m sorry.

SENATOR COX:  Let me just repeat the question then.  Under Proposition 103, it implicitly says that the insurance…

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Senator, this issue went through the court system.  The court system found against the insurance company and found in favor of the petitioner.  Now, I’m not in a position today to debate with you, or with the court, their wisdom and judgment.  Now if you feel strongly that the Proposition 103 is incorrect or ought to be changed, you’re perfectly capable of presenting a bill to the Legislature, and with the appropriate vote, change the underlying law.  But that has been established by the Supreme Court, and there’s nothing more that we can do accept to uphold it.
SENATOR COX:  Mr. Commissioner, what I’m attempting to do is to….you say one thing and then something else is __________.
COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  That’s not true, Senator.  We have been very clear here.  You asked me a question about, do we have sufficient staff to make rates?  Mr. Diehl has answered that question.

SENATOR COX:  Mr. Commissioner, we were not talking about just….we were talking about rates in the big generic term, as opposed to just specifically approving rates.  

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Well the question you posed to me was, do we have sufficient staff to approve rates?

SENATOR COX:  Prior approval, Sir.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Prior approval?  The answer is, yes.  The Donabedian case and the issue in Prop. 103 goes well beyond that process to the enforcement of 103 in all of its aspects.
SENATOR COX:  Let me ask it one more time.

CHAIR SPEIER:  And then we’re going to move on.

SENATOR COX:  And I suspect, Madam Chair, you’re precisely right and it’s only my dogged determination that will try to get this question answered.  Mr. Commissioner, do you have adequate resources to, in fact, effectively implement prior approval process in California as required by Proposition 103?  That is the third time I’ve asked you.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  The prior approval process, as apparently you are interpreting it, deals with the rate making process and the approval of the proposed rates that we receive and the implementation of those rates as they apply to individual consumers.  That second portion of that is a far bigger task, one that we do not have the adequate staff to pursue, hundreds of insurance companies, that are providing policies to millions of Californians.  We don’t have that.  So in the context of a large rate making process, which apparently you believe goes beyond, and we believe goes beyond, simply approving the applications that have come to us.

SENATOR COX:  And so the answer is no.  You don’t have the resources.  The next question then, Madam Chair, and this is the last question for the Commissioner that I have relative to this matter, have you ever asked for additional staff people?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  We are continually asking for additional staff people.  We have, during 2003, we were faced with a hiring freeze that reduced staff that we had available, coupled with the operation that the Department of Finance’s rule, “that if you don’t use it, you lose it.”  That is, if you don’t have the staff, you lose the funding and the position.  We are short on the enforcement side of this, both in the legal department, as well in the various investigatory departments, in the Consumer Services Department, as well as in the Fraud Division.  We need more staff.  We’ve increased with the support of the Department of Finance.  We have further increases that would be absolutely necessary if we were to be required to take on every case that exists in the state of California.  And I dare say, we would never be able to get sufficient staff to do that, therefore the use of a private attorney general, or private lawsuits, is exceedingly important.

SENATOR COX:  Madam Chair, thank you for the opportunity to question the Commissioner.  Let me just direct the Commissioner’s attention to page-16 which points out to the fact that your budget has gone up about a half a million dollars since 2001, Sir, just in the personnel.  Thank you Madam Chair.  I have no additional questions at this time.
CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Commissioner, let’s just move briefly to homeowners insurance as it relates to rates.  “Use it or lose it,” as you often refer to in the area of homeowners insurance would suggest to me that overall in California there has been a dramatic decline in the number of claims filed by insureds on their home insurance policy.  Now, I’m saying that having no benefit of statistical data, just from anecdotal conversations with everyone I come into contact with who has been frightened by much of the debate and discussion that we’ve had on this issue over the last couple of years and the hearings that we’ve held, where people literally lost their insurance through no fault of their own for making inquiry, because someone prior to their ownership of the home had filed a claim, and on and on and on.  So I guess my question to you is, has there been a decided decrease in the number of claims filed for homeowners insurance in the last two years?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  We don’t know.

CHAIR SPEIER:  And why don’t you know?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Because we have no authority to collect that information.  We are requesting the Legislature to provide us with specific authority to collect claims data.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Then in terms of approving new premium increases in the homeowners insurance market, have you been approving insurance premium increases in the last two years?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  I believe we’ve had increases and decreases, both, up and down.  David?

MR. DIEHL:  That’s correct.  It’s actually our good fortune that 2005, we’re seeing some decreases.  

CHAIR SPEIER:  Could you expand on that a little bit, in what areas?

MR. DIEHL:  Homeowners, and actually we’re seeing some benefit in our auto too.  Now the problem is, from our perspective, you know, we just look at bulk numbers.  We don’t really know what kind of claims they are, and we don’t really know if it is frequency severity.  We’ve been told that perhaps the frequency is not as severe as it has been in the past.  But actually, you were asking about the number of claims; that doesn’t come into our purview.  The actual were the 7,683 claims versus 5,000, we see claims numbers.  The claims equate to….they had a claims cost of $5 million.
CHAIR SPEIER:  So you get the number of …

MR. DIEHL:  The dollar amounts.

CHAIR SPEIER:  The dollar amounts, but not the number of claims.

MR. DIEHL:  Right.  What does that equate to?  Ten thousand claims, 500 claims?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Or what the claims are for.  Now we’re requesting authority to gather that information.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Right.  You referenced the home insurance premiums have come down and the number of filings, could you just kind of tell us with what companies?

MR. DIEHL:  We’ve seen some.  The only one I can remember that jumps out in my mind, I believe there was a State Farm one, maybe.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  I think we need to get you the specifics on that, rather than guessing.

MR. DIEHL:  Yes.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Over the last two years, if you could get us any data you have on homeowner insurance premium filings for decreases, what they were; how much; and by whom?  And then for those that have gone up, how much; by whom?

This was an issue at our last oversight hearing that we discussed at some length, and I’m curious now if anything has happened within the Department on it?

When an insurer comes in and requests a new rate, it is based on their loss ratio, typically, or what they anticipate their loss ratio is going to be in the future.  And based on their assumptions, you either approve it or decline to approve it.  To the extent that you go ahead and approve it, the question that we had at previous hearings was, do you then go back to determine whether or not their projections relative to their claims loss was indeed incurred, or was it different?  And at the time, and I think it was before you returned as insurance commissioner, that was not going on within the Department.  My question to you today is, is that still the case?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  It’s my understanding that we do not generally do retrospective review of the accuracy of the information provided.  We do prospective.  That is, we look at the information that is given to us, the actuarial studies that would support the proposed rate.  As David said before, some 37% of those proposed rates are not approved usually because we disagree with one or another of the projections that have been made in that proposal.  But we do not, as a rule, go back and review whether those were, in fact, accurate after they have been approved.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Okay.  Now that you have established that you don’t do that, that’s a serious concern, certainly to me, and I would think to you, Commissioner, because that would basically alert any insurer that you can project virtually anything you want.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  No, that’s not the case.  They have to prove that what they want is supported by historic facts.  They do not get anything they want, and they cannot say anything they want to say in support.  They have to prove it.  And if we disagree, we will reject it as we have in 37% of the cases.  If they disagree with us, then it winds up in a hearing before a hearing officer and all the evidentiary information has to be provided.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Mr. Diehl, let me ask you this question.  If an insurer regularly misses the mark, there is one year in the not so distant past, when one of the insurers in this state came in for a rate filing increase within one year of more than….over a 21% increase over a, let’s say, three filings over the course of, let’s say, 9 to 14 months.  So, that became alarming to us because that repetity of requests for increases needs to be supported.  And to me, the way you would support it would be when the subsequent request comes in for a rate increase, to go back and look at the previous rate increase and the anticipated losses and determine whether or not those anticipated losses were, indeed, incurred, and if not incurred, then there was a benefit that accrued to someone and in this case most likely the insurer not the insured.
COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Well, Senator, you are correct.  Your alarm is, was, the same as mine.  The reason for the multiple rate increases within a very short period of time may have been to fool the Department, but it was almost certainly to avoid the 7% threshold.
CHAIR SPEIER:  That’s correct.  It was.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  I put a stop to that.  I said, That is not going to be tolerated, period.  Not going to happen.  And to my knowledge, it hasn’t occurred since I put my foot down and said, No more of that.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Well let me ask Mr. Diehl this, could you just provide the committee with the rate filings for the last year from the various insurers in the state so that we can make that assessment, as well?
COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  If I might, Senator, just add to my explanation—One, it was a subterfuge to get around the threshold issue.  Secondly, with regard to the multiple filings, each one had to stand on the accuracy and appropriateness of the information provided.  So we did review the information, and sequentially through time, as to whether those previous rates were justified.  Now it turns out, I guess that it’s both good and bad, first of all, as the subterfuge, stop it.  It isn’t going to happen.  Secondly, because they were sequential, we had the opportunity to review whether the previous one was appropriate or not, and I think that we probably approved….that these were approved….this happened….was going on in….far too often, prior to my arrival and continued shortly after my arrival because I didn’t know about it, and when I found out about it I said, That’s it.  No more of that, period.  But it did give us an opportunity to go back and look at the previous rates, and whether they were supported by the actuarial reality.
CHAIR SPEIER:  Okay.  So, if an insurer today requests a 5% increase, they don’t automatically get it?
COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Yes.  Absolutely.  Automatically they do not get it.  Automatically we review it.  Am I right?

MR. DIEHL:  We’re the eternal doubting Thomas’.  Just because an insurance company says our numbers show that we are entitled to this percentage or rate increase, we say, Well, that’s fine.  We crunch our own numbers to see what we come up with.  Many times our projections are more conservative than what the company is.  Thirty-seven percent of the time the company either withdraws it, or takes something less than what they asked for.  And you know, they don’t do that just because they’re nice people.
CHAIR SPEIER:  No, I understand that.  What I’m just trying to clarify in my own mind now is, they request a rate filing based on anticipated losses, correct?
MR. DIEHL:  And historic data, correct.

CHAIR SPEIER:  But it’s prospective -- we think we are going to have x-number of losses.  So when they subsequently come in for another rate increase, you go back to that last filing to determine whether or not they had the losses that they said they were going to have, or do you just look at this new rate filing and what it is projecting?

MR. DIEHL:  Well, we actually do both.  We look at the old and we say, That’s fine that you projected that, but fast forward to the future, show us whether or not you’re best estimate, you’re projection, was reality, okay.  If they projected that they were going to have $10 million worth of losses and that was factored into last year’s filing, the rate was whatever.  Fast forward to their filing we’re reviewing now, oh, their projections of $10 million, they only had $5, so therefore, they aren’t going to be allowed, on this rate filing, as much of a rate increase, or maybe none at all.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Okay.  I think that answers my question.  Any other questions on that? 

All right.  Let us move now to the Conservation and Liquidation Office.  And let me start off by saying, Commissioner, if there is one area within your department that I have the gravest concern with, it is this office.  And as we go through the discussion this afternoon, I hope that we can shed some light on areas that are weaknesses that need to be addressed and that you will recognize the need to take some steps.

If you go to page-22 of the backgrounder, there is a discussion about the Fremont Estate.  And I guess the first question I have is, when did Fremont decide that it was going to merge with it’s solvent reinsurer?
COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  That’s a good question.  I don’t have an answer, but, Tom does.  Let me introduce, Dave Wilson, who now has been less than two months on the job as the CEO of the Conservation Liquidation Office.  And either Tom knows, or David knows.
TOM WELSH:  Madam Chairman, I’m Tom Welsh.  I’m the Commissioner’s outside counsel on a variety of matters on the Fremont Estate.

Comstock was a sister company of Fremont Indemnity, and it was, if solvent, only marginally solvent.  And it was….the parent company came to Commissioner Low, I believe, and asked for permission to start merging a variety of workers’ comp and property and casualty companies into what ultimately now is Fremont Indemnity.  Fremont Indemnity is the product of, I think about six different mergers of sister companies into one entity.  The last one was Comstock.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Okay.  My question was, when did Comstock and Fremont merge?

MR. WELSH:  They merged in March of 2003.

CHAIR SPEIER:  March of 2003.  And that was done with your approval, Mr. Commissioner?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  It had to be.

CHAIR SPEIER:  So in March of 2003, you approved of the merger between Fremont and its sister company, the reinsurer, Comstock?  And you as the outside counsel said that it was only marginally solvent.  But you came into the picture subsequently?

MR. WELSH:  Subsequently.

CHAIR SPEIER:  When were you hired by the Commissioner?

MR. WELSH:  In June of 2003, when the companies were put into conservation.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  If I might, Madam Chair, ask Ramon Calderon, who heads up our Financial Surveillance Unit, to join us and he maybe able to provide us with…I’ve got people that are specific to Fremont.  The CLO is a side piece at this moment so we’ll….  If I might, I think Ramon can shed some light on the transaction that you’re discussing.
CHAIR SPEIER:  Well, let me ask a question first then, I guess.  Or, do you have some additional comments based on…?
RAMON CALDERON:  I can wait for your question.

CHAIR SPEIER:  If, in fact, you were providing advice to the Commissioner, which he took, to allow for the merger of Fremont and the sister reinsurance company, and then you subsequently filed an action in 2004, Mr. Commissioner, in which you say the company used fraudulently net operating loss carry forwards in its financial statements then with the pattern and practice of looting the insurance company’s subsidiaries of their assets, the question that it raises is, didn’t you have to approve it?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Well, Madam Chair, we are alleging a fraud.  A fraud is something that’s hidden from us.
CHAIR SPEIER:  Well, I guess Mr. Welsh says that they were marginally solvent.  And you were onboard in June of 2003, and when did you determine that they were marginally solvent?

MR. WELSH:  Well actually I think probably Ramon is the best person to answer that question about the timing of ….

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Ramon, your last name again is?

MR. CALDERON:  Calderon.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Calderon.  A very popular name in this building.

MR. CALDERON:  My recollection of Comstock is that it was reporting minimal surplus in its annual statement.  The Department…

CHAIR SPEIER:  And what year was this?

MR. CALDERON:  For a number of years, Senator.  I don’t recall the years, but most certainly the annual statements, and they were filed in 2000, 2001, and 2002.  Comstock was allowed to book a deferred investment income asset.  What that means essentially, is that the Commissioner allowed Comstock to discount its reserves because Comstock had long tail liabilities, and Comstock was in runoff. So therefore, the question with regard to Comstock being marginally solvent, if the Commissioner desired to reflect Comstock under normal statutory accounting rules, Comstock would be insolvent.  But because the Commissioner allowed Comstock to reflect a, essentially, discounted reserves, Comstock was able to show a positive surplus.

CHAIR SPEIER:  So for all intents and purposes, it was insolvent, but because of this accounting game that was played out, it appeared solvent, and the merger was allowed to take place?

MR. CALDERON:  Under statutory accounting rules, the company would be deemed insolvent.  The company had requested the Commissioner to allow itself to discount reserves for a number of reasons.  One is that it was in runoff, and the second response was that it had long tail liabilities.

CHAIR SPEIER:  So Mr. Commissioner, you are now alleging that you were defrauded, it appears, in your filing.  And I guess the question for the committee is, that’s not unlike another allegation you’ve made in the Executive Life case, and how often does it happen that the Department is defrauded?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  In the Executive Life case, both criminal and civil fraud have been found to exist.  If these are the only two cases that we are speaking of, it would be once every 13 years.

CHAIR SPEIER:  So the question then is, how do you…

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  How do you prevent a fraud?

CHAIR SPEIER:  Part of it is by using aggressive scrutiny of the financials.  And based by Mr. Calderon’s comments, it would appear that you were tracking it for a period of time and it was marginally solvent, and that, in fact, but for this cute little accounting principle…

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  If I might, Madam Chair.  We are presently involved in a very important and complex lawsuit against Fremont for what we believe to be a fraud.  We can certainly read to you the allegations of our suit, and we’d be happy to do so.  However, that case is active, and we’d be happy in private, to share with you and the members of the committee, the details of our case and why we believe we are going to be successful in that case.  
With regard to Executive Life, the federal attorney general, with the assistance of our staff and our outside attorneys, successfully prosecuted a case of fraud.  We have taken that to the civil court.  And while we have some settlements in hand, we also went to trial with one of the defendants, and the jury came back and found that there was indeed a conspiracy to commit fraud in which that particular company was involved, and they named the other companies that were part of the conspiracy, and with whom we had previously settled.

Fraud against the government is not unknown.  In fact, it is all too common.  We do the best we can to understand the underlying circumstances of every case that comes before us.  But when there is a conspiracy or an attempt by a company or individual to hide, to lie, to attest under penalty of perjury, a falsehood, that becomes a fraud, and we do the best we can to find it.  When we do we pursue it vigorously, and that’s what we’re doing.  In the Fremont case, we believe there was a fraud.  And that’s certainly what we did in the Executive Life case.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Let’s do this.  Let’s move on to…I think what we’ll do, at your request, Commissioner, we’ll have this conversation in private, if you think it’s going to in anyway hurt your…

MR. CALDERON:  It wasn’t that, and I apologize.  I should have clarified the confusion at outset.  But the background information you provided seemed to indicate your belief there was a link between the merger of Comstock into Fremont, and the fraud allegations that are being made in the litigation.  And, in fact, they’re tangentially related, but the fraud allegations are really independent of that separate transaction, and I think that’s where some of the confusion arose.  The fraud allegations relate to a larger transaction, also involving some net operating losses and a request that Commissioner Low approved a long-term, self-administered runoff plan for the company.  That’s where the concealment and fraud occurred in 2002.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Let’s move on to the use of $10 million of a state fund to purchase a building in San Francisco.  Mr. Commissioner, was the building purchased, or was a first mortgage purchased?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  It turns out that, indeed the building was purchased.  The Fremont Estate had a second mortgage that was in default.  To protect what we believe to be a significant asset, we….I’m sorry.  Apparently Rick is going to correct me.  Do you want to take this one Rick, or Tom?

CHAIR SPEIER:  Mr. Welsh.
MR. WELSH:  I can give you the background.  I was also assisting on that transaction, as well.  When the Commissioner inherited Fremont, it owned a second mortgage on a large office building in downtown San Francisco.  And it also had a master lease on the entire building.  And the first mortgage was not held by Fremont Indemnity.  

CHAIR SPEIER:  Who held it?

MR. WELSH:  Pacific Life Insurance Company.  It was defaulted on, and it was in foreclosure.  And so the only way to avoid having the value of the second mortgage lost to a foreclosure on the first was to purchase that first mortgage and to gain control over all the debt on the building.

CHAIR SPEIER:  And the first mortgage was for how much?
MR. WELSH:  Well, the current amount outstanding at the time it was purchased was just a little more than $10 million.

CHAIR SPEIER:  So you purchased the first mortgage for $10 million.  The estate now has the title?

MR. WELSH:  No.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Who has the title to the property?

MR. WELSH:  No. The building is still owned by the same party, and we worked out disputes over the debt.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Who owns the property?

MR. WELSH:  It’s company called Camfex Limited Partners in New York.  I may have gotten the limited partner, but it’s a special purpose vehicle..

CHAIR SPEIER:  Is it Camfex?
MR. WELSH:  Yes.  Camfex Associates, LP.
SENATOR COX:  So you gave $10 million secure a $25 million second _______ issue, or $30 million _________ issue?

MR. WELSH:  Well, the outstanding amount on the second mortgage was in the neighborhood of $40- to $42 million.  The value of the building, there was definitely some value in that second mortgage, without question.  The issue was, how much.  The building itself at that time was worth about $20- to $30-, but well in excess of the value of the first mortgage.  So if the foreclosure had occurred, the value that was there in the second mortgage would have been wiped out by that foreclosure.

CHAIR SPEIER:  What year is this?

MR. WELSH:  It would have been in 2003 and early 2004.

CHAIR SPEIER:  So, if we played this out, 2003/2004, the market has crashed for commercial property in San Francisco, so if in fact it went into foreclosure, it could have been purchased for more than $10-, but how much more?  Was that evaluation done?
MR. WELSH:  Yes.  There was a great deal of analysis done before this step was taken—a tremendous amount.  And another important part of the background is, this was occurring in the context of litigation, because we had been a master tenant in the whole building.  But by the time the Commissioner inherited this estate, it was vacant office space other than what had been leased out.  So Fremont, pre-liquidation, was paying about $360- to $380,000 a month for vacant office space.  And one of the benefits of conservation is that you can stop that bleeding.  You can reject those kinds of leases that are just draining the assets and taking money away from claimants.  
But the landlord, the owner of the building was very, very aggressive in dealing with the CLO staff.  They initiated litigation within just a couple of weeks, and I think there were three or four or maybe more, pieces of litigation going on over what was going to happen to the building and the mortgages, and ultimately those all got worked out.  But the strategic transaction of acquiring the first is what really made that possible.
SENATOR COX:  Now Madam Chair, if I could just ask…

CHAIR SPEIER:  So right now the estate has a master lease.  If I could, I’m just trying to finish my questioning.
MR. WELSH:  Right now as we sit today, or at conservation?

CHAIR SPEIER:  Right now.  Right now you only have a first mortgage of…

MR. WELSH:  $25 million face.

CHAIR SPEIER:  $25 million.  Is this property leased now?

MR. WELSH:  It’s getting leased up quite rapidly, actually.

CHAIR SPEIER:  And who benefits from the lease then?

MR. WELSH:  A combination of the estate and the owner of the property.  The estate benefits because it increases the likelihood that the new mortgage will continue to completely perform.  And by 2009, it will have liquidated and paid off, or been refinanced.

CHAIR SPEIER:  But who is collecting the rent?

MR. WELSH:  The owner of the building now has control over all the space.  We no longer have any liability associated…

CHAIR SPEIER:  So all you have is a mortgage?

MR. WELSH:  We have a mortgage, a fully performing…

CHAIR SPEIER:  You don’t own the property—you have a mortgage.  You’re not receiving any income from it.

MR. WELSH:  We don’t have a $42 million….we don’t have a liability either.  That’s the whole thing we wiped out.
CHAIR SPEIER:  Well it is a liability.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  No.

MR. WELSH:  No, it’s not a liability.

CHAIR SPEIER:  The mortgage is a liability.

MR. WELSH:  The mortgage we own.  The liability is to us.  The mortgage is an asset.  We had a liability to be paying on a master lease for a lot of empty space.  Okay?  We got rid of that liability.

CHAIR SPEIER:  You have the ability, in a conservation, to come in and just extinguish master leases anyway, correct?

MR. WELSH:  Sometimes not without a fight, and we faced the fight in that instance, and we faced some litigation.  But, in general, that’s a tool that the court…

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Let me see if I’ve got this correctly.  We had a second mortgage worth how much?

CHAIR SPEIER:  You have a first mortgage.  You had.  You had.
COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  At the outset we had a second mortgage that was worth $42 million on its face, and we also had an obligation to pay a lease of $365,000 a month.  The company goes into bankruptcy, or into conservation liquidation.  We then are faced with a situation of losing our second position.  That is, the first would foreclose because the company could no longer pay the lease and we’re going to lose the $42 million second, and quite possibly have additional obligations as a result of the ongoing lease.  So what we did was to buy out the first mortgage for $10 million, thereby securing the first position on the building.  That is, we own the first deed of trust on the building.  That’s an asset.  That asset is now worth, in our estimation, some $25 million, and in the process, we extinguished the lease that was an obligation of the Fremont Company.  So, where are we?
This transaction has eliminated an obligation, a liability to lease, and has secured a $25 million position on the building.  The question going forward, is the building worth $25 million?  We are very confident, very comfortable, in saying the building is well worth $25 million.  So, the total transaction ….

CHAIR SPEIER:  Who is Peter Caine?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Pardon?
CHAIR SPEIER:  Who is Peter Caine.

MR. WELSH:  He’s a real estate consultant who assisted in the transaction.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Did he make the assessment or the evaluation of the property?

MR. WELSH:  He assisted in going out to the market to try to gather information.  Given the litigation there wasn’t enough time to get an MAI in to look at the property.

CHAIR SPEIER:  So you didn’t get a professional appraisal done?

MR. WELSH:  No, that’s true.  We did not.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Mr. Caine then was hired to assess what the value was, and that’s how you came up with the $25 million?

MR. WELSH:  Well he was hired for a lot more than that.  This, at its origin, this original transaction was born out of one of these pre-86 Tax Act, tax shelter deals, where you do a sale lease back and you create a lot of documents and interlocking cash flows that are really just designed to create tax advantages.
CHAIR SPEIER:  I don’t necessarily want to get into the nitty-gritty.  All I want to know is, did he come up with the figure for the value of the building?

MR. WELSH:  He assisted, but it was ultimately a combined…

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Did he get any kind of payment based on, any commission based on that?

MR. WELSH:  No.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Is he also hired by the CLO to provide real estate services at $500 an hour for other unrelated?

MR. WELSH:  I don’t know what his rate is, but I do know that he is looked to quite frequently to assist on these kinds of difficult projects.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Is he a friend of Mr. Buck’s?

MR WELSH:  I wouldn’t call them friends, but they’re acquaintances.  I first met him in 1991 when I was working first for Commissioner Garamendi on the First Capital Life Insurance Company insolvency in San Diego.


DAVID WILSON:  Madam Chair, I’m David Wilson.  Senators, I probably should step in and not leave Tom out there as our legal counsel.  He’s not representing all of those business transactions.  And I’m a little short, given I’ve only been here for two months, so some of it I’m cautious with what I say because I only understand this stuff from the 30,000 foot level.


Peter Caine is a real estate expert that I’ve run into across the country in other insolvencies.  He’s the guy that’s used and touted very much with complex, complicated real estate transactions.  He has been in the CLO, from my knowledge, working on Fremont because it was complicated.  He very well may have worked on other estates.  I can’t vouch for that.  But the main one that I’m aware of has been the Fremont Estate.  His rate per hour, $500 seems to knock me off my chair, but I can’t validate that, but I would certainly be pleased to give it to you.


CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  If you would provide the committee with that information.  Also, I would like to know, I’m sure the committee as a whole would like to know, whether or not this bid was competitively bid or not for the professional services contract for Mr. Caine.  If you could get that information to us.


MR. WILSON:  Certainly.


CHAIR SPEIER:  Normally my understanding is that the estates are supposed to be liquid so you can, in fact, make payments to those who are owed.  Because this is now a first mortgage that is held, the owner of the building is someone else, is not the estate dependent on when the owner of the building wants to sell, or can that first mortgage be sold at any time?  And when would you have cash out?

MR. WILSON:  Madam Chair, it’s a mortgage.  It’s just like a bank.  So they’re making payments to us, and it’s very similar to any other type of investment.  And typical in insolvencies, there is the need to take out the first to protect the second, so it’s a very typical transaction.  So in this case what you’ve done is, you’ve moved from, if you say a typical bond transaction where you’re receiving interest, what you’re doing is holding a mortgage which you’re receiving principal and interest on a timely basis.  So it’s mooted to a performing base on a cash flow.

MR. WELSH:  And the maturity date is actually 2009, so it’s not like a 
30-year mortgage that we’re going to have to wait to pay off.  In just a few short years it will have to payoff in full and it will be liquid again.


CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  You have a question, Senator Cox?


SENATOR COX:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Let me just be sure I understand.  I think I understand what you have said.  Did you consolidate the first and second mortgage?


MR. WELSH:  Yes.  Well, it wasn’t as simple as that because there were a lot of tax issues.  But some of the second mortgage debt was pushed down into the first mortgage to make it bigger.  So we restructured the debt, but we actually left the second mortgage in place for tax purposes.


SENATOR COX:  Okay.  So if I were to go to the CLO and I looked at the balance sheet of the Fremont folks, what I would find then is a first and second relative to this business ___________


MR. WELSH:  No.  You would just see the first mortgage.  Because as part of the restructured transaction we agreed to sell off the second mortgage.


SENATOR COX:  So you took cash?


MR. WELSH:  A small amount, because the building just didn’t support that much.

SENATOR COX:  Okay.  How much is on the books as an asset today?


MR. WELSH:  The books show a long term mortgage asset of $25 million.


SENATOR COX:  Twenty-five million.  So let me just be sure I understand this then.  So the estate of Fremont had a second mortgage of somewhere between $20- and $30 million, is that the testimony?  Twenty and 50?  Twenty and 40?

MR. WILSON:  Forty-two.


SENATOR COX:  Twenty and 42.  So it has a value of between $20- and $42- and you put another $10- in …


MR. WILSON:  I don’t mean to interrupt your train of thought, but when you say, a value, the value of that second mortgage is only dependent on how much collateral is there to support it.


SENATOR COX:  But didn’t Fremont loan them the money or something?  How did they acquire the second mortgage?


MR. WILSON:  I started to mention the nitty-gritty about the pre-86 sale- lease back transaction.  It was extraordinarily complicated, and it was…


SENATOR COX:  Well this is a very bright committee.  Just take _________


MR. WILSON:  Well let me see if I can sum it up and the experts can tell me where I’m wrong.  There was some cash involved in it, but it’s what is referred to as reverse amortizing loan.  So what happens for those of us that aren’t real good with that is that no principal, no interest is paid.  It just accrues.  So it’s sitting out there accruing this tremendous asset.  Well you can see what happens is during that period it accrued right past the book value and the real value of the building.  There in lies some very difficult issues that no money is coming in; you have a first mortgage that is in default; you’re in the second; and you’re not going to get paid.

CHAIR SPEIER:  So you don’t get a professional appraisal and you add another $10 million to the pot to protect yourself?


MR. WILSON:  Well, let me clarify that.  It’s looking at the substance of this transaction.  When you get an appraisal, the appraisal is based upon the present value of these future lease payments and then you compare it to what the rate is in your geographical area.  Now I appreciate having the MAA and all behind your name is very important.  This is a very troubled situation.  It’s 40% vacancy rate.  And there are other contingencies that are around this piece of property, being if you are to market it, there are upgrades that needed to take place that were required by federal law, I believe.  

So the market value analysis was looking at a protection basis that Mr. Caine is very qualified to do.  And that’s the financial analysis that was put behind it.  Is that true, Tom?

MR. WELSH:  Yes.
SENATOR COX:  What’s the value of the mortgage on the estate’s books now?

MR. WILSON:  Approximately $25 million.

SENATOR COX:  Twenty-five million dollars.  And of that $25 million, $10- is based upon the fact that the CLO decided that they would buy up the first, correct?

MR. WILSON:  Correct.

SENATOR COX:  So it’s really $10- and $15- to make up the $25-?

MR. WILSON:  Right.

SENATOR COX:  What was the amount of cash that was traded to get rid of some $20 million of additional asset that had accrued?  What was the cash that changed hands?  That was your testimony, Mr. Wilson.  That you paid some money, or perhaps it was the attorneys.

MR. WILSON:  Yes, I did, Senator.  And I’ve asked Scott Pierce, who’s in charge of our estate side.  I apologize for bringing up all these folks, but I’m hearing a very high level….you’re looking at very specific numbers and I’d like the specifics to be part of this.

SENATOR COX:  There may not be anybody left in the Commissioner’s office to do any work, and I apologize.

MR. WILSON:  This is all the CLO.  We travel in a band.

SENATOR COX:  I see.  Yes, sir.
SCOTT PIERCE:  Thank you.  Senator Cox, can I ask you to repeat your question.  It was how much cash…

SENATOR COX:  How much cash changed hands?  You paid out $10- million and you got $15- and you said you extinguished a portion of the second that was still on the books.  So how much cash took place in order for you to lop off something?

MR. PIERCE:  Two-hundred and fifty thousand dollars.

SENATOR COX:  Okay.  So let me see if I understand what you said now.  Somebody gave you $250,000, or you gave somebody $250,000?

MR. PIERCE:  We received a payment of $250,000.

SENATOR COX:  You received a payment of $250,000.  Who did you get the $250,000 from?

MR. PIERCE:  The $250,000 was sold, or was paid by a group of individuals that purchased it….that was affiliated with the original ownership.

SENATOR COX:  All right.  Now let me just see if I understand what you said.  Camflex, and I’m not sure I’ve got that name right, but Camflex, is a situation where they’ve got this $10 million first, correct?

MR. PIERCE:  No.

SENATOR COX:  No, they’re the owner.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Pacific Life had the first.

SENATOR COX:  Pacific Life has the first.  Any relationship between Camflex and Pacific Life?

MR. PIERCE:  Not that I am aware of, Senator.

SENATOR COX:  Not that you’re aware of.  But at any rate, someone comes along then who’s related to Camflex and they say, By the way, we’ll take how many millions of dollars off your hands.  What was the millions of dollars they took off your hands?

MR. PIERCE:  The remaining portion of the second note was approximately $27 million.

SENATOR COX:  Madam Chair, we may be in the wrong business.  So let me just be sure I understand what you said.  So somebody comes along and says, Look, we will take this worthless piece of paper off your hands, that’s $27 million, for which we will give you $250,000, is that what happened?

MR. PIERCE:  No, Sir.  If I can indulge you just for a moment.  I know we’ve covered some of this, but if I can step back just for a moment to put that particular portion of the transaction into context, it might make a little more sense.

After purchasing and securing the first to protect our second, it became an issue of having to resolve all of the issues surrounding the building, which we’ve touched a number of them being the master lease, as well as our second lien position.

SENATOR COX:  And you’re paying them about $3.5 million a year to lease some property.
MR. PIERCE:  Yes.  We have a master lease obligation that is very significant and is generating significant cash drain upon the estate.  After securing the first we were in a much better position to go ahead and have Camfex and their principles come to the table to recast all of the debt.  And to recast all of the debt what our position was, and what we advised the Commissioner to do, was to take that portion of our second deed, our second note, if you will, secured by the second deed of trust, and come to a conclusion of a good value for that, the equity portion if I can call it that, of the second lien.  The building being valued based upon comparable analysis to local product, as well as taking a look at the cash flows coming off and some lease up assumptions, if you will, came to a conclusion that the building could be valued somewhere between $20- and $30 million.  That came ultimately to a $25 million decision through a negotiation with both parties.  We then hived off $15 million of the second as the equitable position within that second note; recast that with the first note with the complete bundle of security, so we credit-enhanced what was a significantly under secured second lien.  The second, it should be noted, did not have all the security bundle that the first did.  We did not have a complete bundle of rights towards the land and the property.  We simply had an interest in the building subject to the first as well as an interest in what’s called, an “estate for years” in the land.

SENATOR COX:  So is it correct to say then that you, in fact, deprived the creditors of an asset worth $10-, $15 million and you traded that for $250,000?

MR. PIERCE:  I don’t believe so.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  No.  That’s not true.  Listen carefully to what he was saying, Sir.  He was saying that the second mortgage did not have value commensurate with the $42 million face value that had accrued over the years because of the nature of that mortgage.  That mortgage was a reverse mortgage.  The face value of the mortgage had grown far beyond the actual value because they were not making payments.  The value of the second was far less than what it was nominally set at--$42 million.  That’s what he said.  And in the negotiation process of trying to protect what value there could be from this, we took the first position, obtained the first position, and secured it in a way that was significantly more secure than the previously owned second mortgage.  We disposed of the second mortgage for a small amount of money because in our view, it wasn’t worth anything more than that.

SENATOR COX:  That still leaves the question as to whether or not there are creditors out there who believe that they were deprived of an asset worth significantly more than $250,000.  Is that correct?

MR. PIERCE:  I would answer that, Senator, by suggesting that the second deed of trust was restricted from a security standpoint purely of the, what we call, “the sticks and bricks,” the actual physical improvements of that building.  Said another way, it was a non-recourse note back to the principals.  So we knew right from the beginning that our recovery, and our sole path of recovery, was the building and the improvements.

SENATOR COX:  All right.  What’s the relationship then between the people that gave you $250,000, the Camflex, and what’s their name?  What’s the name of the organization that gave you the $250,000?

MR. PIERCE:  I’m sorry, Senator, I do not recall the exact name today as I sit here.

SENATOR COX:  Let’s ask the attorney then.  What was the name of the…

MR. WELSH:  I can’t remember either.  It was a special purpose….another one of the special purpose vehicles with a strange name that was set up in New York.
SENATOR COX:  Do you think they were related in any way?

MR. WELSH:  Probably.  They’re probably is some control there.  But, you know, from a….I think any creditor who believes that they’re going to get any value out of that is mistaken.  The reason they insisted on leaving the second mortgage in place—they, meaning Camfex—was because of tax considerations.  This, as I mentioned, was originally set up as a tax shelter transaction.  And they had taken tax credits for this $42 million payable on the second mortgage which they hadn’t paid a dime on.  So to surrender it would give them $42 million in phantom income that they’d have to pay taxes on.  So the whole thing was driven by tax issues, not entirely by…

SENATOR COX:  Okay.  Let me just ask one final question, Madam Chair, and that is, so you made this deal based upon what was good for Camflex?

MR. WELSH:  No.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Absolutely not, Sir.  Look, Fremont Life Insurance Company was in the tank.  We wound up with a….our task is to martial the assets, to get our hands on the assets and to do the best we can with those assets.  With this particular asset, was the second mortgage that was virtually worthless to us at that point to the estate; to the policyholders.  We then, by taking the action that’s been described here, have been able to take what was essentially a worthless asset and turn it into a valuable asset, perhaps worth some $25 million.  That’s what happened here.  Now the fact is that there was a tax game being played by the owners of the building together with, quite possibly, Fremont, in the ’80s.  We wound up in 2000, perhaps 15 to 20 years later, with a pile of garbage on our hands.  We then took that and have created a valuable asset.  Now people can say it’s worth less or it’s worth more, but the reality is, going forward, we no longer have a worthless second mortgage.  We now have a valuable first mortgage on this building.  And there’s cash flow coming out of that mortgage.  Previously the second mortgage was non performing, as was the first mortgage.  Understand this, the transaction, while complex, while certainly open to questions about whether it was plus or minus a percentage of value, did result in taking a worthless second mortgage and creating a valuable first mortgage that is performing this day.

SENATOR COX:  Commissioner, I heard what you said. 

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Yes.  I can repeat it.

SENATOR COX:  Then I’d have to repeat my question to you then.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Please do.

SENATOR COX:  I’m still trying to figure this out, Madam Chair, with respect to the asset of which was in fact given up in order to acquire $250,000.  That’s the issue.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  The asset that was given up was a second mortgage.  The asset that was obtained was the first mortgage, that’s performing and that has real value, while the asset that was given up had virtually no value.

SENATOR COX:  All right.  We’ll let it go.  Perhaps we can address this at a later time, Madam Chair.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Let’s move onto the unreleased draft audit of CLO by the Department of Finance.  And just serendipitously, after the backgrounder was published, this document, which has been, I guess, postponed in its release for almost a year, was released today.  Is that correct?

UNIDENTIFIED:  At 1:25.

CHAIR SPEIER:  At 1:25.  So, we’re delighted that it finally was pried loose, but we can’t help but think it had something to do with the fact that the committee had received an unreleased draft audit copy and…

SAM HULL:  It wasn’t delayed a year, by the way.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  How long was it, sir?

MR. HULL:  The date that goes on audit reports…

CHAIR SPEIER:  Please identify yourself for the record.

MR. HULL:  Sam Hull, the Department of Finance Audits Unit.  The date that goes on an audit report is the date the field work is completed, not necessarily the time that the audit is finished.  Because after you finish the field work, you’ve got to write the report and all this other stuff, and you get response from the Department.  You have to review that and decide what to accept and what not to accept.  So, really what happened, you know I have the dates here if you’d like them.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Sure.

MR. HULL:  In July we finished the field work.  In October we met with Insurance and we met with them again in November.  CLO expressed some concerns, so we tried to address them.  Finally in January, we think we got those all resolved, and we issued a draft in February.  Gave them 30 days to respond.  They come back with a response in March.  We prepared our analysis of the response.  In March 30th….now part of this too, we had a month delay because at the same time we’re doing the internal control review, we’re doing a financial audit of CLO.  And part of that requires us to get a management representation letter from CLO’s attorneys saying that they don’t have any major legal problems going on.  And that took a month and a half to get from them.  So that pushed us into May.  And we always get this from various people about the date on the cover, but the auditing standards require us to put the date on there that we finish field work, regardless of when the report is finally finished.  It don’t make any difference when it’s finished.  We have to put the date on the cover of the report as to when we finish field work.  It’s to limit liability so that we aren’t accused of missing something that happened after the time we finished field work, but before we issued our report.
CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Let me ask you this, Mr. Hull.  And I’m quoting from our backgrounder, which I’m sure you’ve had the opportunity to review.  And this is a quote from the draft document, but from your office:  In our opinion because of the effect the material weaknesses described above on the achievement of the objectives of the control criteria, CLO has not maintained effective internal control over financial reporting and safeguarding estate assets as of July 21, 2004, based upon the committee of sponsoring organizations of The Treadway Commission’s Internal Integrated Framework Guidelines.  The report is intended solely for the information and use of the Department of Insurance and the CLO management and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than the specified parties.  However, this report is a matter of public record and its distribution is not limited.
MR. HULL:  That’s right.

CHAIR SPEIER:  That is the most profoundly contradictory statement that I have read in some time.

MR. HULL:  The reason that is in there that way, we’re kind of in the unique  position.  We did this audit under contract with CLO.  They’re the client.  However, we’re a public agency and we’re subject to freedom of information.  And so we tell everybody that we do work for on a contract basis that, you know, the purpose of it is for management’s use, however, if anybody wants it, we can’t refuse it, because we’re a public agency under the Freedom of Information Act.  So that’s why those are both in there.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  If I might—

CHAIR SPEIER:  Mr. Commissioner, I will as soon as I’ve completed my questioning of Mr. Hull.

Was the contract with CLO made with the provision that it be held confidential?  Did they require that as part of the contract?

MR. HULL:  No.  We tell them we can’t do that.  We’re a public agency.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Commissioner, you had a comment?
COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  May I?

CHAIR SPEIER:  Certainly.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  On coming into office, we knew that the Conservation Liquidation Office had serious problems.  We knew this from a review that we did of the office.  We knew it existed from rumors and conversations with parties that were familiar with the Conservation Liquidation Office, and we knew that this would probably be the case because of the extraordinary turnover of management within the office.  
As I said in my opening comments, we requested an audit.  Previously Price Waterhouse was the auditor for the Department.  Their work was not, in my view, satisfactory.  I then went to the Department of Finance and asked them to audit the issues that are in this report so that as a manager and a responsible party, I would have a baseline to judge what needed to be done to straighten out the office.  That’s where this audit comes from.  This audit is a result of a request by me of the Department of Finance to do this management audit.  The management audit points out many things that were in place and were being done that were a good quality and appropriate, and it pointed out, thankfully, areas that needed improvement, one of which you just reviewed.  
We used the information that was available to us last fall, and actually, late last summer, to begin the process of addressing the concerns that ultimately are found in this audit.  So many of the issues that are pointed out as being problems in this audit, have been, and are being dealt with.  

And we thank the Department of Finance for its work.  They did a good job with it, and a timely piece of work at that.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Well, we’re going to go through them.  All right.  Let’s start at the very beginning. 

First of all, there’s reference made to the fact that since this audit was done, a number of people have resigned or were terminated at the CLO, including the special deputy insurance commissioner.  Who is that?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  That would have been….since this audit was completed?  That would be Fred Buck.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Fred Buck.  All right.  He wasn’t terminated though, and we know that, Mr. Commissioner.  The fact of the matter is, Mr. Buck was not confirmed by the Senate Rules Committee.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  That’s correct.

CHAIR SPEIER:  The chief financial officer, who is that?

MR. WILSON:  His name is Pegregan(?).  He left on his own.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Last name again?

MR. WILSON:  Pegregan(?).

CHAIR SPEIER:  Could you spell that?

MR. WILSON:  I really couldn’t.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  We’ll get the spelling to you.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  The accounting manager?

MR. WILSON:  Left on their own.  Now remember, we did not write this.  As a matter of fact, I received a copy of this the day I arrived.

CHAIR SPEIER:  I understand, Mr. Wilson.  You were at a distinct disadvantage.

MR. WILSON:  The part of these people….go ahead, Senator.

CHAIR SPEIER:  The administration supervisor?
MR. WILSON:  I don’t know who that is.  We can get the names of those people.

CHAIR SPEIER:  And the information technology supervisor.

MR. WILSON:  I could get a name for you.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Where is Mr. Buck now, Mr. Commissioner?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Physically, I don’t know.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Well, would you like me to tell you?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  You’re keeping closer track of him than I am.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Well, I don’t know this to be a fact.  My understanding is, he is still in the same building in one or two floors above the CLO.  Are you familiar with that?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  I just said I don’t know where he is.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Does he still have a contract with the CLO?  Mr. Wilson?

MR. WILSON:  Mr. Buck does have a contract through June 30th for 
15 hours to assist the special deputy insurance commissioner on the Fremont Estate.  And that was put into place so that there would be a smooth transition as I came in, and to assist me through the first month.  So he’s here through June 30th at 15 hours a week.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Fifteen hours a week?

MR. WILSON:  I’m sorry.  Fifteen hours a month.

CHAIR SPEIER:  And that contract was from what time to what time?

MR. WILSON:  It would be April, May, and June.

CHAIR SPEIER:  So after he was not taken up by the Senate Rules Committee, he was then put on a contract, I gather.  Is that correct?
COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  That’s what the man said.

CHAIR SPEIER:  And what is that contract?  What is the amount of that contract?

MR. WILSON:  The contract is limited to the 15 hours, and I think it’s $15,000 maximum.  And I’d have to get those exact amounts.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Fifteen thousand dollars is the max…

MR. WILSON:  A month.

CHAIR SPEIER:  For 15 hours?

MR. WILSON:  That sounds a little high.  That can’t be right.  I think I’d like that job.  I think it was $300 an hour for 15 hours.  I can get that back to you.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Why don’t you make that contract available to the committee, if you would.

MR. WILSON:  Certainly.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Mr. Commissioner, there are many things in this Department of Finance audit that are deeply troubling, but let’s start at something that, I guess, is pretty astonishing, that is….one of the principles is just tracking funds.  Who is kind of watching the store?  If you had two employees within the CLO who are married and who have the authority and were the two signators for the transferring of funds within an estate, would you find that somewhat disconcerting?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Perhaps you could provide me with more details.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Well, I’m giving you a hypothetical.  If you had two employees within the CLO who were married, who were in charge of an estate, and were the two who had signatory authority to transfer funds in and out of the estate, would that be of any concern to you?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Could you tell me where you’re going with the question and get down to a real situation rather than a hypothetical, and I’ll be happy to answer it?

CHAIR SPEIER:  Well, I’m just looking at it from a perspective of, is that good accounting principles, is that good safeguards, to have persons who may be related have the ability transfer funds on their own signature, and would you just want to just guard against that?

MR. BAUM:  Senator, I think that the Commissioner and Mr. Wilson said that the whole focus of Mr. Wilson’s coming in here is to assist us in identifying and correcting many of the issues that are raised here.  The whole point of having the audit was to identify these issues.  Additionally, while the audit was going on, my understanding is, that management made a very important point, and the Finance Department auditors were communicating with them, so that in addition with the audit we were also getting that information as the audit was occurring.

And Mr. Wilson, you can talk about what Mr. Buck and you came into, in terms of the history of controls. 
MR. WILSON:  Senator, if I could respond to that.  

CHAIR SPEIER:  Certainly.

MR. WILSON:  The evaluation of this department is certainly a concern as what the Department of Finance has shown in this examination, and take that very seriously.  Certainly in going through their examination report, and we can get into very specifics if you want to talk about nepotism and other policies that are in play, but I have to look at this very globally, given what we’re trying to accomplish.  

There are some 17 control areas that were looked at, and nine of which passed.  And there’s an additional six that did not.  And when you look at evaluating a situation like here, what can go wrong, you look at cash receipts, cash disbursements, you need to look at investments, look at our distributions, and you look globally to see what can go wrong.  I also look back to see how much fraud has taken place in this organization and has it ever taken place.  I mean, do we have controls in spite of ourselves?  And the answer is, we must have controls in spite of ourselves.  Because, from my awareness, fraud has not taken place.
And also, a point that the Commissioner eluded to relating to, and these aren’t excuses, hear me, they are “how do you fix the problem?”  Because that’s what I’m looking at, is, I know where the problem is, now, how do we fix it?

When you look back at an organization we read everyday about Sarbanes-Oxley and we read about what’s taken place with the “name-its,” if it’s Enrons or whoever, it’s governance.  It’s governance, is where it is.  Governance was a huge issue here.  And interesting, we wrote a letter to the DOF saying, Part of the issue you have to be very aware of is governance has been a problem.  And the Commissioner eluded, I was somewhat impressed in looking at this opportunity because it was a national search.  And I do not know the Commissioner and I do not have an “old boyism.”  I do know the people professionally, but I am not somebody who, I guess, you’d say is in the system.

So what took place before the Commissioner came back was….it created difficult situations to the point where you had CEOs walking in saying, No more budgeting; no more reporting; don’t do that process.  That’s a problem.  And so there’s this flux that takes place in that organization, because it has been a depository, repository for political favors, and I’m just looking at alleged.  So now we look at this environment that’s over there and can we fix it, and can we fix it quickly?  

The comments that are in this….this was laid on my desk in March 1st.  I started March 1st, then it was a welcome aboard.  We have already started, which I’m going to jump around because there’s some of your questions, we have a control document as the senior management group that’s identified every issue in the document provided by the DOF.
And when you need to hear me, I’m not sure I fully agree with all the recommendations, because some of them are procedural and I care about policies.  I care about controls.  But we’re going to do these because we need to fix where the major issues are, and so we’ve already done that.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Can I stop you for a moment?  And let’s just get the rubric in place.  The employees at the CLO are state employees.
MR. WILSON:  No, they’re not.

CHAIR SPEIER:  They have state….are they not part of the state retirement system?

MR. WILSON:  They are not.

CHAIR SPEIER:  They are not part of the state retirement system then.  Are they civil service?

MR. WILSON:  No.

CHAIR SPEIER:  So these are employees that are hired outside of civil service, outside of a PERS system, who come in and are hired by you, or through you, the commissioner?

MR. WILSON:  Correct.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  As commissioner, I do not hire anybody within the CLO except this man.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Correct.  But you are responsible through him for the CLO?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  That’s correct.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  

MR. HULL:  In his capacity as conservator.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Correct.  The individuals who work here then are, for all intents and purposes, in a private employment contract?

MR. HULL:  Right.  They’re “at-will” employees.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Well, they’re “at-will” employees for the CLO which is a state entity, but they are non-state employees.  So are they in an employment….are they employees or are they in a ….

MR. WILSON:  They’re employees.

CHAIR SPEIER:  They are employees.

MR. WILSON:  They are employees.

CHAIR SPEIER:  So they’re employees of a state agency, but they are not public employees.

MR. WILSON:  There’s an issue.  You had a question back on what can we do to strengthen this organization?  One, a legal identity would certainly help.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.

MR. HULL:  One of the reasons, I think, this occurred like this was that in many cases people who worked there are former employees of the companies that they have taken over.  Well, if you do that, it becomes very difficult to do it through a civil service system.  And I think that’s the original reason that they were not within the civil service system.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Mr. Wilson, do you think there’s merit in retaining that kind of a model where you, in effect, hire employees that were from the original insurer that is now in conservatorship?

MR. WILSON:  Absolutely, Senator.  When you seize a company, you have to have the institutional knowledge of what’s there, and there are only three or four areas that are relative….I mean, very important.  And certainly, claims with understanding how the business was underwritten to how the claims are paid, how the data systems are put up; some finance people; it’s a critical function to be able to bring those people in.  It just creates the continuity that’s needed.  It would be ungodly expensive.

CHAIR SPEIER:  So how do you determine what you’re going to pay these people?

MR. WILSON:  It’s done with….we actually have a human resource department.  We go outside, and I don’t know the name of the firm, but have actually had the job profiles identified.  So just like a normal company, you know where the job profile is, and then we have salary ranges that were identified outside, so it’s a market type.  And we kind of targeted the lower quartile, being we’re kind of low in the pay scale, but we’re in the lower quartile.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  If you would provide to the committee the employees and their salaries.

MR. WILSON:  Under a confidential basis?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  There are two different kinds of, if I could.  We have 30 companies in conservation.  Many of those companies have employees that were with the company prior to its conservation, and there may be several hundred of those, or maybe even more than that.  That’s one group.  If you’d like that, I’m not sure that we can provide it.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Well Commissioner, this is where I’m going with that.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  What are you looking for?

CHAIR SPEIER:  What I am looking for is, all of the money that is paid to these employees, be they state employees or non-state employees, is money that’s coming out of the estate.  It’s money that will not be benefiting to those who should be getting the resources that are, in fact, harnessed.  And so I feel strongly that their salaries should be made public.  And if there’s no reason…

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  If we can legally do so, we will.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  And if you legally can’t do so, we’d like to receive it on a confidential basis.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Okay.  It’s crucial, it’s critical, that the operations of the conserved company be maintained and with some high level of continuity.  Your statement that the salaries of these people is not meritorious and beneficial to the claimants, is, I think, incorrect.

CHAIR SPEIER:  I didn’t say that, but I did say whatever salaries we are providing to them are monies then that will not be available to the insureds, and that has to be balanced.  Now, certainly, someone who maybe responsible for the company becoming insolvent should not then be rewarded then by being allowed to continue as an employee of the CLO.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  We would agree, and we don’t believe that that exists.

CHAIR SPEIER:  But the fact of the matter is, the audit would suggest that are really no guidelines, or have not been historically guidelines in place to prevent that kind of employment, contract, or relationship from developing.  I’m not saying it does exist, but there’s nothing in the CLO’s guidelines that would prevent it from happening.
COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Written formal guidelines are being developed to address that concern that was brought to us by the auditor, although I don’t believe the auditor found the problem to exist other than the written guidelines not existing.
CHAIR SPEIER:  Well the auditor found that there were inadequate controls over the CLO’s legal contract functions, but that’s, I think, a separate issue.

Let’s, just if we could then, go down the findings of the auditor.  And you can, Mr. Wilson, tell us what steps have been taken.  And I can’t underscore enough, Mr. Commissioner, why I think this is so serious, because this is now the fourth audit of this particular office—one of them during your first administration, one in ’96, one in ’01, and one in ’04.  And based on the Department of Finance’s review, the majority of the various recommendations in all of these audits have never been implemented.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  I think that’s incorrect, if I might.  The early audit done in early 1990 was an Auditor General audit, and many of the recommendations were put into place, including a complete restructuring and reorganization of the Conservation Liquidation Office.  That restructuring was not a result of the audit.  It actually took place prior to the audit, and the audit was mostly of the period prior to that restructuring and reorganization of the Conservation Liquidation Office, including new management, relocation, and virtually, entirely new personnel.

In the intervening years after I left office in ’95, the Conservation Liquidation Office became troubled.  There was a period of time in which the person I hired continued to work in that office until, I think, the fourth month of 1998.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Mr. Levine.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  And he continued to operate that office as we had described and had required him to do so.  In other words, as a professional organization.

Mr. Quackenbush brought in his chief of staff.  Excuse me, his general counsel, who had dual jobs.  You’re aware of all of this.  That’s, Mr. Palmer.  When Mr. Palmer was required to be confirmed by your bill, he chose to retire, rather than face confirmation.  Then there were three people that came in the intervening period between ’98, Mr. Korentz, Mr. Levine, and Mr. Suter, none of whom had experience running a Conservation Liquidation Office, the conservatorship, and the management of it.  In my view, the result of these four individuals running the office, they ran it into the ground.  
Mr. Buck was specifically hired, as I said in my opening statement, through a nationwide search and vetted by a team of three people, two of whom were outside the Department, not members of the Department or public civil servants at all.  Mr. Buck, for reasons that are best known to the Rules Committee, was not confirmed, unfortunately, because he was doing a very good job.  He closed 27 of 57 estates.
CHAIR SPEIER:  Mr. Commissioner, please don’t repeat testimony you’ve already given.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  I will repeat it if it’s necessary.  Mr. Buck also instituted many of the reforms, working in conjunction with the Department of Finance as they did their audit as I requested them to do it of what was going on in this department, this organization.  Since Mr. Buck has left, Mr. Wilson is now there.  His specific strength is control -- both management and financial controls.  And I expect him to complete the process Mr. Buck started.  That is outlined in the report that the Department of Finance has prepared at my request.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Mr. Hull, the 1994 audit, did you go back and determine how many of those recommendations were implemented?

MR. HULL:  ’94 did you say?  

CHAIR SPEIER:  Yes.

MR. HULL:  We have a crosswalk in the back of the report which lists the findings, and whether they were corrected or not….we didn’t go back to ’94.  We looked at the Price Waterhouse Coopers management report of Dec. ’01.  We looked at the BSA report of 2001, and we looked at the Department of Insurance report in 2002.  So we didn’t go back to ’94.  I’m not sure which report was that?  Was that ours, or was that…

CHAIR SPEIER:  It was BSA, I think.  
MR. HULL:  Oh, it was BSA.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Okay.  All right.  Then let’s move forward.

Mr. Wilson, the finding number two—The CLO’s lack of corrective action taken on prior audit findings raises concerns as to the organization’s development and implementation of effective control procedures for preventing and detecting errors in the account balances and potential misappropriation of estate assets. 

Mr. Hull, any comments you want to add to that?

MR. HULL:  Well, one of the purposes, of course, of internal control is to protect assets either from loss, or misappropriation, or whatever, and that’s the whole reason you have an internal control system.  And when we looked at internal control, we evaluate it to see if we think it can do that.  Now in many cases, and in many of the recommendations here, you’ll find if you go through, what we were saying is, they did not have written procedures in place to guide them as how they were supposed to handle transactions and things.  And that’s always a warning sign.  Because if you don’t have it documented, what happens, if you hire a new employee, they kind of do it how they think it should be done, or how their boss thinks it should be done, with maybe not any consideration for how to do it and maintain internal control.  And so you’ll find if you go through here, a lot of the recommendations are, they didn’t have the written policies and procedures.  Or if they did, they were out of date.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Just one last question, what liability would the state face if assets were misappropriated?
MR. HULL:  Well, one of the things that we as the Department of Finance have Insurance Code statutory authority to audit the insurance companies in liquidation.  The language is kind of outdated, but my viewpoint has always been that we do that because of the commissioner’s fiduciary responsibility.  I mean, they got like $4.5 billion of assets, and I don’t know, $9 billion of liabilities or whatever.  So I would assume that if something occurred and somebody made off with part of the assets of the estate, of whichever estate was impacted, the policyholders or the debtors of that estate would have some kind of standing to go against the commissioner.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Okay.  Mr. Wilson, would you concur with that?

MR. WILSON:  I would concur with that and I would also tell you that we carry Errors in Omission insurance up to $10 million, similar to what you would have in a normal organization, and we carry an additional criminal bond blanket that covers an additional $10 million per occurrence with an aggregate of $10 million.  The components, what we have is, we have a risk.  The risk has never happened.  We’re putting controls in so it won’t happen, but we have insurance should it happen.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Well $10 million in a $4 billion system is not a lot of insurance.  I’m not going to dispute that with you.  I appreciate that you have….it appears that there’s nothing that’s happened historically to give rise to….

MR. WILSON:  Could I just give the Senator and the committee a little….that $4 billion is what I call a very soft number.  We have about a billion, a billion one in what I call liquid assets that’s under the bonds.  They’re trusted, and that’s very well sealed, very well controlled.  The rest of it is potential recoveries on reinsurance.  And that’s a very difficult number when you get right down….a normal company would not record it as an asset; they’ll record it has a net against their liabilities.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Okay.  Anything else on finding number two?

SENATOR COX:  If I could ask, Madam Chair?

CHAIR SPEIER:  Yes.

SENATOR COX:  Mr. Wilson, let me just, because I want to make sure I understand this, the Conservation and Liquidation Office is not a state organization, what’s it exact business structure?  Is a partnership?  Is it an association?  Is it a nonprofit?  What is it?

MR. WILSON:  Well, Sir, I would tell you what, and then I’ll let the experts talk, what it was defined to me is, it’s an instrumentality of the government.  
SENATOR COX:  Instrumentality of the government, but you don’t have governmental employees.  Are you a governmental employee?
MR. WILSON:  I am not.

SENATOR COX:  You’re…Okay.  Let me just ask you this other question before I turn this back over to Madam Chair.  Does staff have, I heard you say the 
$10 million, but does staff have legal immunity?

MR. WILSON:  I have not honestly looked into that, Senator.  What I looked into immediately was what type of protection do we have from an insurance standpoint, so that we’re looking at how do we protect the estates, the assets that we’re looking at.  Do they legally have immunity, I honestly don’t know that.

SENATOR COX:  And with respect, you have no board of directors, you report directly to the insurance commissioner, and he’s the board of directors?

MR. WILSON:  Correct.

SENATOR COX:  Well, let’s just go down the list.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  If I might, the bankruptcy laws for insurance companies conservation laws require that I become the conservator.  That is, the commissioner becomes the conservator to carryout the task under the law.  The Department has set up the Conservation Liquidation Office that works to carryout the tasks of the conservator.  It is an ambiguous -- and I use that word in its broadest context -- it is an ambiguous legal situation.  We have wrestled with this, and have had internal discussions about legislation to clarify and to, I don’t know, say clarify, the legal status of this office.

SENATOR COX:  Mr. Commissioner, is this the model throughout the nation?

MR. BAUM:  Senator, there are a number of models.  This model exists in several states.  Smaller states tend to hire directly, hire a Mr. Wilson to work on that estate.  They don’t have anybody.

SENATOR COX:  On an individual estate.  They’ve lumped all these together.

MR. BAUM:  The conservator doesn’t have a group or an office.  The state of California is of the size where, like New York and other states, we actually have an office.  In almost every state, the office is separate and apart from the insurance department.

SENATOR COX:  All right.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  So, what steps are you taking to respond to finding number two, Mr. Wilson?

MR. WILSON:  Madam Chair, I do not have a copy of that report here.  

CHAIR SPEIER:  Why don’t we get you a copy.

MR. WILSON:  What we’re doing to respond, what I will tell you is, we have responded to every one of the recommendations that are in this document.  And the response for every one of them is in the document.  Now what we’re doing is, we’re taking and going through a cure, which we say would do in the document, and we’re fulfilling that cure.  So whatever we say in there, if its documentation of policies and procedures, then we’re doing that.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Let’s move on then to finding number three.  It says, The review and approval of the budget at different levels of management is not documented. Thus the risk of implementing a budget without management knowledge, and/or authorization, increases.  The CLO does not monitor or report budget variances.  As a result, the CLO…

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Could you cite the page number?

CHAIR SPEIER:  This is on page-6 of the draft document.

MR. WILSON:  It was changed.
CHAIR SPEIER:  Unfortunately Mr. Commissioner, we didn’t have the benefit of the final document until 1:30, so we didn’t have an opportunity to review that.  We do have…

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Apparently you had the benefit of the draft.

CHAIR SPEIER:  We did.  And that’s what we’re working off of.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Presumably, the draft was private.

CHAIR SPEIER:  The draft was not private, to my knowledge.  And, frankly, nothing about this department should be private.  It doesn’t say it’s private or confidential on the document we have.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  _________ relates to what page?

CHAIR SPEIER:  This is finding number three on page-6.  And I was referencing number two and number three.  Since there is not any monitoring, then the potential of exceeding the budget is certainly potentially a risk.  They make recommendations.  What are you doing to make sure there’s monitoring in place of the various components of the budget.

MR. WILSON:  Madam Chair, on the bottom, or if you go over to page-7, following still this finding three, you’ll see what the recommendation is.  And what we’ve done with this is, we filed in our document back to them specifically what we were doing for every one of these, and that’s what is in the final report.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Madam Chair, it may be helpful to you and your staff to have the final report.  In that final report there is something known as the CLO response to each of these issues that have been raised by the auditor.  And that response indicates what the CLO office is doing to address the concern raised by the specific finding.  In this particular case it reads, In September 2004, the CLO initiated a budget process with specific schedules of deadlines for submittal of the departmental and the state budget information for inclusion in the 2005 budget draft.  The schedule in supporting planning documents were distributed at the budget kickoff meeting on September 22, 2004, the first submission date for budget amounts.  And ours was October 8, 2004.  Adjustments and refinements were made and the final budget was approved at the end of December 2004.

The evaluation of response, this is by the auditor:  We concur with the CLO’s response.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Let’s move onto finding number five.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  That’s finding number five in the draft?

CHAIR SPEIER:  I’m going to continue to work off the draft, Mr. Commissioner.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  That’s fine.  I just wanted to be clear so that we’re working back and forth between two documents now.

CHAIR SPEIER:  We observed several instances of incorrect or incomplete postings or reclassifications in the general ledger receivables account.  Receipt of funds received from a judgment from the Executive Life Insurance Company estate was incorrectly posted to the settlement judgments receivable sub-account.  On May 25, 2004, the CLO posted $110 million credit to the receivables account although no receivable had ever been established.  The CLO has not established receivables for future potential judgments related to the ELIC estate, the CLO anticipates receiving up to $700 million in judgments, but has not yet recorded a receivable.  
COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  If you’ll give us a moment, we will find the cross reference on the final draft.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Isn’t it astonishing though that something would be actually incorrectly posted to the wrong account?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Well if you would give us a moment and let us try to understand what was in the draft.

The response is, all journal entries posted to the general ledger are reviewed by the supervisor and manager prior to posting.  If an item is miscoded it will be discovered when the monthly management reports are produced or when the financial analyst completes the trial balance review.  At times in an effort to keep the month-end closing process on schedule, items may be assigned to certain accounts with the knowledge that the item will be reclassified when the research is completed.  

The example cited in item one occurred because the CLO needed to research the proper treatment of funds received and has had to consult with legal and tax professionals.  This treatment of transaction occasionally occurs when dealing with complex and sensitive estate matters. 

In the liquidation environment the practice of assigning temporary coding is an issue problem only if the transaction is not reclassified prior to reporting for tax or court purposes.

CLO:  The evaluation of the response is the auditor disagrees.  Should the CLO not know the specific treatment of an item at the time of posting, the item should be recorded in a readily identified suspense account, regardless of the environment.

Recommendation:  Ensure the policies.

It’s a difference in how these things….it seems to me that what we’re talking about here is the difference in how something is to be noted on the accounts.  It’s not that it disappeared.  It’s not that it wasn’t there.  It’s not that we didn’t know it wasn’t there.  It’s that we recorded it one way, the auditor says it ought to be recorded another way.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Well let’s not even look at this…

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Excuse me for a second.  His job is to sort this out.  He has 30 years experience as an auditor, as a manager of insurance companies and in handling bankruptcies, 10 years of at least handling bankruptcies.  He’s hire specifically to figure out how we should be noting these kinds of transactions on the records.  And it will get done.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Well Mr. Commissioner, let’s just look at Executive Life.
COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Very well.  Let’s look at Executive Life.  Happy to do that.

CHAIR SPEIER:  There’s $700 million in anticipated judgment that will be received.  And nowhere in your books is it even recorded.
COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Well, it hasn’t been concluded.

UNIDENTIFIED:  Some of those documents haven’t even been signed yet, Senator.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Well, but these are for future potential judgments.  Mr. Hull, explain to us why you think it’s important that this $700 million be recorded.

MR. HULL:  In order to make sure that nothing falls through the cracks and that…if you have a figure there you can always reduce it if it doesn’t come through.  But if you don’t even record it, then it’s kind of like, well how do you, you know, maybe next year it’s $500 million, but you don’t know that.  Or maybe it’s $900 million.  But unless you try to keep some track of it, you have no idea what’s going on.  And again, to me, it’s part of the commissioner’s fiduciary responsibility to be aware of that, and record that, and track the amount.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  I can assure you that we are aware of it.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Mr. Commissioner, let me just ask a question.  The $700 million reference is to a settlement that has already been determined by the feds in which $400 million is going to come to you on behalf of the insureds, is it not?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Let me ask my general counsel to explain the $700 million.  Mr. Cohen.

MR. COHEN:  Madam Chair, in terms of the settlement with the feds, the only money that was guaranteed to be received pursuant to this settlement was $110 million.  The rest of it were funds that were being held in an escrow account in the event that we obtained a judgment for settlement with Credit Lyonnais.  So it wasn’t until we reached a settlement with Credit Lyonnais, and that happened just within the last few months.  We reached agreement with Credit Lyonnais over a settlement which is, as Mr. Baum said, still in the process of being documented and approved by the court.  So, there is no….the only money up until now that has been….that the ELIC estate had any right to receive, was the $110 million.
CHAIR SPEIER:  So Mr. Hull, where did you come up with the $700 million figure?
MR. HULL:  I’m going to have to ask my audit manager.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Where did you come up with the $700 million figure in the ELIC?

UNIDENTIFIED:  $700 million?  I believe (no mic) ____________ the judgment.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Are you talking about the federal case?

UNIDENTIFIED:  (no mic)________________

CHAIR SPEIER:  You’ve since removed it from the final?  Why did you remove it?

UNIDENTIFIED:  The basis of accounting.

CHAIR SPEIER:  If you could identify yourself for the record.

SUSAN BATKIN(?):  Susan Batkin.  I’m an audit manager with the Department of Finance Audit Unit.  The basis of accounting, we were in discussions with the management at CLO about what basis of accounting they were going to be reporting under.  And when we determined that it was going to be a modified cash, it was no longer required that they record that receivable.
CHAIR SPEIER:  Okay.

MS. BATKIN(?):  Because the course had not totally been settled, what the actual amount was, had not been agreed to, then we agreed that it didn’t have to be recorded in their general ledger.  They just needed to keep track of it.  They needed to have a separate system…

CHAIR SPEIER:  But how did that number even pop into your universe of knowledge? The $700 million?

MS. BATKIN(?):  I’m sorry.  I don’t mean to keep palming you off.

CHAIR SPEIER:  That’s all right.  That’s fine.  I mean, someone must have made you aware that there was some money somewhere.  And if it really only was $100 million…Please identify yourself for the record.

CHERYL LYON:  My name is Cheryl Lyon.  I’m supervisor over the CLO assignment.  And it was my understanding, I don’t have the work papers in front of me to be absolutely positive, but I believe it arose during a discussion with a staff member on our audit team with the staff member of CLO.
CHAIR SPEIER:  So that it was communicated to you from an employee of the CLO?

MS. LYON:  Yes.  That there was an anticipated $700 million judgment that was to be received based on the ELIC.
BRIAN PERKINS:  Can ask a question?  I’m sorry, it’s been a long time since I’ve took accounting, but under the accrual rules, when are you required to recognize a receivable?

MR. HULL:  Let me talk about the basis of accounting.

MR. PERKINS:  Yes, because you switched somehow from accrual to cash accounting.

MR. HULL:  Yes.  They use the liquidation basis of accounting which is very strange.  It’s not cash; it’s not accrual.
MR. PERKINS:  It’s my checking account.  I got it. I’m sorry.
MR. HULL:  Well, kind of.  But, see one of the problems with the Conservation Liquidation Division, I think that’s one of the reasons when they went out and hired the CPA firm to do their audit that they had significant problems.  It ended up the first year giving them an adverse and a disclaimer at the same time.

UNIDENTIFIED:  What year?


MR. HULL:  I don’t remember.

CHAIR SPEIER:  If you could answer questions from the committee, not from Mr. _______


MR. HULL:  Because the liability part of it, you have all these future, like they was talking earlier, long-tailed liability stuff that you just have no idea if you’re going to collect it or not.  So you kind of have to disregard all that stuff.  And you have a lot of assets that may be over valued, you know, like they were talking earlier about the office building.  If you put book value on it, it’s going to make people think they’re going to get that much when you do a distribution.  And so they use, it’s like I say, it’s a different kind of accounting.  It’s what can you get for the asset type of accounting.


MR. PERKINS:  But it’s neither accrual nor a cash accounting.


MR. HULL:  That’s right.


MR. PERKINS:  How do you represent your financial statements as being in compliance with anything?


MR. WILSON:  Can I respond to that?


CHAIR SPEIER:  Yes.  Go ahead, Mr. Wilson.


MR. WILSON:  The unique nature…These are dead companies, and that you have to keep very close in mind.  You have a company that’s been performing either to statutory or GAAP with one method of accounting.  When you seize the company, your big concern is, control all those assets.  You want to know where every asset is and you have a liability.  But you’re next major important issue is, you have to get to what’s the distributable assets.  That’s liquidation.  So you have to mark the assets to market.  You need to estimate what you think the runoff costs are going to be; and you have to look at liabilities.  And that’s what’s tracked through liquidation, and that’s what the courts being reported to.  They want to know what you’re going to distribute.  So it starts to become a bit of a hybrid.  It doesn’t mean you don’t record your assets.  It doesn’t mean that all.  It doesn’t mean you don’t record your liabilities.  It’s just the basis.


MR. PERKINS:  I guess I’ll conclude.  Madam Chair and Senator Cox, it has been a long time since I took accounting, but at least my accounting teacher taught me the purpose of accounting was to represent the economic reality of the enterprise.  That’s the fundamental purpose.  And if you’re running a hybrid system, it’s open to manipulation on its face, because it simply is, we have $700 million that we might collect, and the next day we somehow don’t believe it’s credible, that we might collect it, therefore it’s off but the following week it might be on.  There is no economic reality.  It’s a ghost ship in effect.  And at least in so far as the income statement and the balance sheet are.  If you’re running two different sets of standards, the values on the balance sheet in the income statement cannot fairly be said to reflect economic reality, at least by my untutored mind.

CHAIR SPEIER:  Mr. Wilson.


MR. WILSON:  One short comment?  Liquidations are very complicated.  The basis of accounting is the matching of revenue expense—cut and dry.  So you want to understand what you’re revenue stream is and what your income stream is.  The minute it dies, those principles go away.  And what you’re after is the recovery of those assets—what’s left?  There is no matching of revenue and expense.  There is no revenue.


MR. PERKINS:  But there is, as the gentleman suggested, a proper opportunity to estimate and to make a fair estimation and evaluation as to a future recovery, and to make adjustments as appropriate with entries is appropriate.


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  The issue, Sir, is that at what point do you have knowledge that you may receive some amount of money?  The $700 million apparently came from god knows where.  At the time this report was written there was no $700 million that we anticipated.  We were involved in the early stages of a lawsuit, and we had no settlement negotiations underway at all at the time this $700- was written.  Apparently somewhere the auditor heard of $700-, maybe thought it was a real, or possibly real, and wrote it down here.  In the intervening….in the time from when it was written in the draft report until the final report, I suspect that the auditors found that this really wasn’t real at all. 


Now, what’s also happened since this audit report draft was written and the final document was approved, we do have a settlement, but that settlement has not yet been finalized.  We do know the amount.  It’s $715 million total, of which $110- is already in hand.  We know that.  That is clearly known by us.  It’s also known by the judge who is handling the trial.


CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  So you have $110 million that you know of, but it’s not listed as an accounts receivable, is that correct?


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  No, no, no, no.


UNIDENTIFIED:  It doesn’t need to be, it’s been received.


MR. HULL:  They’ve got the money.


CHAIR SPEIER:  It’s cash in hand.  Is it referenced anywhere in the CLO?


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  It’s on our books.  It’s on the books today.  This audit is history.  At the time of this audit, and in the…


MR. HULL:  That’s why it was removed.  Because part of the whole process here is you do an audit and you send the draft to the Department and they get to respond.  And if you have things that you think may be in error, we discuss them.  If they convince us they’re right, it comes out.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right. Mr. Hull, let me ask you this—number four on page-8 of the draft says:  Of the $260 million we selected $230 million for testing.  We found the entire $239 million tested, was incorrectly posted as a receivable rather than as funds held or advances to the Insurance Guarantee Association.  What does that mean?  What’s the economic impact of that?


MR. HULL:  Cheryl, do you want to answer?


MS. LYON:  It’s basically looking misposted.  It’s being carried on their records as another receivable, and actually it’s an advance to IGAS.  So it’s money due back.  It’s still as an asset, listed as an asset, but it’s incorrectly classified.  So if someone looked at their financial records and wanted to know or ascertain how much were due from IGAS as far as advances to IGAS, it would be misrepresented because of the classification.


CHAIR SPEIER:  So it’s represented as an account receivable.  It’s not.  It’s an advance to IGAS?

MS. LYON:  Yes.


CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  But it does imply by being in accounts receivable, that’s money that’s going to come in, when in fact it’s money that’s going to…


MS. LYON:  It’s money that’s being held by the Insurance Guarantee Fund which can use those funds to pay claims.  And this is, in reviewing the supporting documentation, it gave us the impression that it was an advance to the IGAS and the IGA was going to be using those funds to pay for claims.  And, therefore the CLO did not feel that they would collect the money back; it was not going to be returned.  So we said it was improper to consider it a receivable because it’s not money that is deducted, or that they will collect.


CHAIR SPEIER:  But the truth of the matter is that it is recorded so that you can actually track it for someone looking in would anticipate that this was money that would be received when in fact that will not be the case.


MS. LYON:  May not be the case.


CHAIR SPEIER:  May not be the case.


MR. WILSON:  Senator, here’s this…GAP you can go to a book; statutory you can go to a book; liquidation, I don’t know where you go.  The majority around the country, whenever we advance money to a GA – a guarantee association -- there is an agreement put into place that they have early access.  We have the right to receive those funds back.  And the reason that’s set in is, is so that you can early fund them; you’re probably going to over fund them in many cases; and it’s going to be disproportionate to what their share of the claim is going to be.  So many, and I would say, probably three-quarters of the liquidators around the country, end up taking that advance and calling it a receivable.  Because what it’s saying is, if push came to shove, we have the right, contractual right, to go out and receive that money back.  Are you ever going to get it?  No.  Is it a real receivable?  No.  But it’s where it’s recorded.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  I will disagree.  It’s possible, given the circumstances, that there may be, some of those receivables may be reimbursed.  We don’t know.  But the fact of the matter is, it’s recorded here.  There apparently is some disagreement about how you characterize, label the recording.  And we have a tradition, if you will, of labeling it one way, and the auditor says it be labeled another way, perhaps for clarity purposes.  I’m sure we’ll figure out how to make it more clear.


CHAIR SPEIER:  Mr. Wilson, do many of the employees get bonuses for finding money that was heretofore not known?


MR. WILSON:  I’m not aware of any, Senator. 


CHAIR SPEIER:  So it’s strictly a salary, or is it strictly a percentage of the estates?


MR. WILSON:  It’s a salary.  We’re a typical shop—no bonuses, no finder fees.


CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  If you go to number six under the Salvage and Subrogation Recoverable Account, the auditor makes the point that these accounts are not established for every estate receiving monies for this particular purpose, and that the CLO is currently billing for seven estates.  Only one of the seven has a receivable account established.


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  I’m sorry, Senator.  We’re lost.


CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Page-9 of the draft, finding number six, number one.


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Thank you.


CHAIR SPEIER:  So what it’s saying basically is that they’re not salvage and subrogation recoverable accounts for each estate even though you may in fact be receiving monies for those purposes.  And the auditor points out that the CLO is currently billing for seven estates, but only one of the seven has a receivable account established.  So what are you doing to fix that?


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  I can read the 237-word response that we had to the auditor, or I can read the auditor’s response which is, We concur with the CLO’s response.  Would you like me to read the 237-words?


CHAIR SPEIER:  No.  If they believe that you are now meeting…


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  I think it maybe that we, we’re always meeting the requirements, but there’s misunderstanding as to what was going on.


CHAIR SPEIER:  I mean, one of the things they say at the end is, a failure to appropriately record all receivables in the CLO’s accounting records results in…


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  I’m sorry.  I misstated it.  Maybe I ought to read—Since first quarter 2003, the subrogation senior claims analyst has produced a monthly summary report of all traditional subrogation results on an estate basis.  This monthly report clearly shows the additions to the recoverable balances, as well as reductions to the account, both as a result of receiving payments and reductions due to negotiated settlements.  


As of January 2005, accounting receives a copy of this report on a monthly basis.  Accounting will review the report, reconcile it to the balances of the general ledger monthly.


As of March 2005, any items on the general ledger not listed and reconciled with the claims department will be identified and researched by the financial analyst responsible for the estate.  By July 2005, these balances will either be recommended for write-off by the chief claims officer, or assigned to the collection by the claims department.


This true-up process will render the subrogation report the sole source of reconciliation to the general ledge subrogation accounts.  Accounting will continue to track the annuity payments received for the mission to state balances and will be advised by claims on an individual file basis as commutation settlements are achieved and when expect funds to be received.  Any collections against the original annuity balances will be booked by the accounting as these are received.  Final resolution of these accounts will occur October 2005, to coincide with the closure of the mission entities targeted for the end of 2005.

And apparently the auditor thinks that’s the way it ought to be done, going forward.


CHAIR SPEIER:  Are there any additional comments?  At another point in this draft it references that there’s no requirement for competitive bidding unless the contract exceeds $100,000.  It’s on page-15, finding number 18.  Mr. Wilson, have you changed that policy?  And, Mr. Commissioner, do you think it should be changed?  Well do you know whether or not you have a policy?  And if you don’t, what would it be?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  If you give me a moment, I’ll try to answer your question.  


UNIDENTIFIED:  Well I believe we removed that from the final report.


CHAIR SPEIER:  Well whether you’ve removed it or not, I’d like to know what the policy of the Commissioner is about contracts, professional contracts, that are not going to be competitively bid if they’re under $100,000.


MS. LYON:  If I may comment on that. 


CHAIR SPEIER:  Well, actually, let’s ask the Commissioner.


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Well, I don’t know.  Maybe the auditor in her work discovered the answer to your question, because I don’t have the answer to your question.


CHAIR SPEIER:  I guess just as a general policy issue I’m asking you, do you think it’s prudent…


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Well, we apparently have a pol….excuse me.


CHAIR SPEIER:  Do you think it’s prudent to not require competitive bidding at a threshold that is as high as the $100,000?  Right now the only rule, I guess you have within CLO is you competitively bid contracts over $100,000.


MR. WILSON:  I don’t know that that’s a true statement or and accurate statement, Senator, and I really need to pull the policy out to see.  We have a policy for everything.


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Well, if the auditor is correct and it’s over $100,000, that we have a policy for competitive bids over $100,000, we have no reason to believe, and we have no evidence to indicate, that competitive bids of less than $100,000 have been inappropriate.


CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Well if that’s the case, let me ask this—Mr. Wilson, would you provide the committee with the contracts that you have between $25,000 and $100,000, and with whom their with, and for what purposes?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  If I might seek a clarification.  You said a contract or all contracts.  What is it that you desire here?  All contracts between $25- and $100-, is that what you would like to have?


CHAIR SPEIER:  Correct.


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  From which dates between what dates that you so desire those contracts?


CHAIR SPEIER:  From 2002 forward.


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  2002 forward.  Thank you.


CHAIR SPEIER:  Let’s start with 2000.


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  So these are all CLO contracts between $25,000 and $100,000 between January 1, 2000 and the date of submission?


CHAIR SPEIER:  Right.  Do you have another question, Senator Cox?


SENATOR COX:  No.


CHAIR SPEIER:  Mr. Commissioner, I think we have had a long afternoon and I think what I would like to do with your acceptance is conclude the hearing today and take up the items relative to fraud, consumer services, and financial surveillance at a subsequent hearing.


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Your call.


CHAIR SPEIER:  Okay.  


SENATOR COX:  Madam Chair, let me ask one question if I may?


CHAIR SPEIER:  Yes.  Senator Cox.


SENATOR COX:  Mr. Hull, if…


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  If I might, Madam Chair.  I have my entire executive team here.  It is disrupting to the ongoing work of the Department, but necessary that they be here.  It’s taken an entire day’s work, almost two day’s work to arrive and to be prepared and to do this hearing.  I would prefer to complete this process today so that my staff can go back to its tasks.


CHAIR SPEIER:  Okay, Mr. Commissioner, let me remind you that during your entire administration this is the first oversight hearing we have had, so we have not burdened you with extraordinary requests over the last two-and-a-half years.  This is the first hearing, and frankly, we’re somewhat late in having done this hearing at this point in time, because historically we have had them more frequently.  And I would like to suggest to you that I’m happy to stay here for another two hours, but I am not going to stay here past 7:00, and if you would like to do that, I’m happy to do that, and we can take up as much of this agenda as possible.  But at 7:00 I have to leave.  So if you would like for us to do that, I’m happy to do that and we can take a 10-minute recess.


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  I would prefer to try to move through as much of this as possible today.


CHAIR SPEIER:  I’m happy to do so.


SENATOR COX:  Madam Chair, if I may.


CHAIR SPEIER:  Yes.


SENATOR COX:  I, in fact do believe there is some additional work, just the good old fashion leg work that needs to be done.  I would much prefer, and I appreciate the Commissioner’s comments about having his entire management team.  The Commissioner is the one who made that decision to bring them, and I am respectful of that.  But I do believe that these particular issues merit additional time and consideration.  And I think from my vantage point we would be better served as the committee, to, in fact, have this at a future time, giving the Commissioner a couple of weeks notice in order for him to prepare, as opposed to our staying for another two hours and then have a situation where we still have questions that have not been answered.  And I just personally believe that we’d be better off to wait.


And while you’re looking at that, Madam Chair, may I ask Mr. Hull—you know, I frankly thought that the audit was somewhat alarming when you look at the 17 areas and nine of them are satisfactory, and for the most part that would leave seven or so that, in fact, were not satisfactory.  When would you do another audit to determine whether or not there was compliance?  Because, it just seems to me if I were the president of this company I would be troubled by this report.  I want to give Mr. Wilson the benefit of the doubt, having not been here very long.


MR. HULL:  Our current plan is to do another internal control audit this fall.


SENATOR COX:  Meaning September or so?

MR. HULL:  Yes.

SENATOR COX:  I see.  Well, Madam Chair, let me just say again, I would much prefer to see us not continue tonight and to set another time.  Give the Commissioner a week’s notice, or two week’s notice, so that he can fit this into his schedule.  But I think we’d be better served by having a little more investigating time.
CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Well, Mr. Commissioner, for the purposes of comity I think I’m going to accommodate my vice-chair on this.  And I appreciate your attention and your complete willingness to be part of this process today.  I think it’s been helpful.  I think that the benefit of having the representatives from the Department of Finance were helpful, as well.  I think completing this at a subsequent time we’ll have one document instead of two documents to be referring to, which will probably make this less tedious so that you’re not reading whole paragraphs and I’m not reading whole paragraphs, and maybe we can move through it more quickly, as well.


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  If I might, Madam Chair, to gain some clarity, and I certainly understand it’s your call.  The issues that you desire to take up in the future, you’ve said two different things.  One, apparently you just mentioned the audit, that we would continue discussing the audit.  Previously you said there were three other issues that we have not come to.  But what would you like?  Then I can properly direct staff.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  We would complete our review of the CLO.  We would have a discussion on the Fraud Division, Consumer Services, and Market Conduct Branch, and the Financial Surveillance Branch.


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Very well.  I will proceed accordingly.


CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.


UNIDENTIFIED:  off mic _____________ letter to the agents and brokers as to what happened.  ___________ work product you have generated and how many letters, responses, and that sort of thing.

CHAIR SPEIER:  All right.  Thank you again, Commissioner Garamendi and to all of you in the audience who have participated in the hearing.  The Senate Banking, Finance, and Insurance Committee stands adjourned.
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